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MOGuires an8ist Attorney, open—

ei the case On.:behalt o • the People .as  follows): 

• Ma4,7- it pie the Court,. And Gentleten of the 

Jury: The case that we are to  .try this Morninoi-

arised on the* ihdiotment Int. the Grand- Jim' of the. 

defendant Jacob 1.ioepoin for the erlitet of .abortion. 

-The Character ',f)f. the. drills .has been recently :read to  

you from the Penal Law of this tate;_an.,...,1. balk co 

fine myself to a brilf outline of the People's 

, • The oomp1a1nin5 witness :Lb a young woMaXt•,tfate 

Thora Jensen.! She was unmarried. On the ,q.ath o . • 

Pebriiary last  emploYment she was a domeet 

...She *tent house' Illa•last 53Z . " 

're mintber Will deve;,oPe iator, w )001 

'Irian Hoffgiari lived.•Tith his wife, Elise itoffMani 

_Elizabeth froffinan and she will tell you tha oonVe 

sations and the things that were done_ at ho &ll 

that she made to the b,ousis by this man Hoffman. 

She will tell you on hr return, soA:ne hours later 

maeti:Ig with-Hoffman and also. with the woman Elie. 

Hoff.aari, -klid she will then tell you of the first 

operation upon her person. tell youot 



she eta ed nearly a Week,- `st 'short of..a wee 

will tell you what this man Hortnian tu4 to her 

ing thd time that she was in that room. upstaira .an 

neotion With the destruction of this foe e, or the 

unborn oh1ld,-1E-detiii nee t-- Use  Upon then 

.of February -when as she waif in.;herrOota On: 

the top floor of that house a peteetpfe sergeant., 

frbm Police Headquarters came in and took her in 

charge and, arrested this man gorMan añct hiawife. 

You will be told by .the medical testimony, asweIIT 

.as b -herself of what happened, at Bellevue itoegilt 

to which She wag taken after She was taken in charge 
• • 

the Pollee 'Officer at this ..house. 

.brought otit by the. People' s testimony 

Proofs that will come In, we will oiatill on the.pat 

• or the PeOPle of the State or Hew York that we have 

•eetaiaiehed beyond a reasonable doubt the Ottris of 

cpztion' described in the Penal Code, or as ,detIned 

in e Penal Code against the defendant Hoffman 



PAOPLE• 0A8** 

tness cailed 2or the Peopl 

being dulr,stoin estified as 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY IT.R. 

Q Your name?. A Thome. milj J-en 

Q Not Miss -Jensen hot Old, aii.e yOu?.,.A Twenty—five.: 

Twent4-...1.1.7,te Ireart-:01 1- -,t! 

Q .Haye yOU ever been markieli? A 

Q On the 14th d 17. of 'PeIxo.vary last were you in. the bottee, 

No. 219 East 43tcl. ? AY 13 

New York Cotuity7 

At -Irhst:  .13 thee? . . • 

Seven o'clock at n 

.Q 1711 m you see there? A I- Setal:thia. t.Paferidah 

•Hoffman. 

-nid you, see :the man who sits at the table? A Y081 si 

Q What did you c.r.alrto him where_ tas-,he when :rou first 

saw him? A He caLle tu.. the. dki 

Q Be opened the .d.otrz•:.flot..yo ? 

Then o.1r.you hairs Et; talk .31r1th him' A I 4ekect bin it 

a Mrs.  S:oh.aref . 

• A er 7,,ou..asked, go; rs Sohe,r±T 'that' did. you: say? 

A fre d, 'told me to tnsidet and. I Q!1211e 1.1111e1de eat 

tolgi e to sit down... and he told :1'3e that Urn*, .131240.11T 

 eavrev,if ••••<1. 



not there anr.more., bp:t .th:exo wegi,m t3.4. IfqfP 
_,.-. .... ... 

-. There was this • :1:iorplitip.? A - Yes, s v 

olss. -icild he •;sa •He a.0-c.i,. he04. Old: tqe the - 

was not home at ..the -present time but she would be hack tn 

about o s told„Iiim I wouldn't 'wait but I irnuic 

come ao en-Tr-date a,ok -at -7.riale-----43-ft ea-0 
. • 

Q t ime aid you- come

 

back? A Abtiut Air4eo'clock.  

That same night?. A "Iri;s, sir. 

Now, then did you see him there 

:Where was. he then you first .saw.him? a, t 

the doo cmottett.the doox -fox :me. again 
off1. 

Q-o else . wa 8*. there besides the .defenclant4 at this time 

1.111 yiAGEWIR; , obj eat to that as immaterial 

and irrelevant.. 

.At that time he was 't-here alone. 

Q Now, while. alone -did you have any talk with h.11:4 

,six; not exaotl he asked Me if' I :lived. atou 

there then. 

Where? A I., I lived anywhere around -4-)11;e. 

Q. I :you lived around there? A. 'ir'ss, sit; . IF* he  ask-

ed me 1f anybody sent lae there. * said,  viio and he *eked. 

'.ae where I got the address from and I told 1-xiM I dot. it 

throw.r,h the telephone directory. 

Q Did. you have any further conversation. 011 that  reetteV 



It ar 

she VcaId be hers -11 3aWI11.16v, 

.14.1k 

914,ycnt oit d irt at Et 

rro1&x0onr. 

Q In ort .room? A Y 

Q Theri ifth-qt-halVened?. • 

lailitt ea 

as sire insidt,s in  

•faw• Minu.teo ter,:soraebo 

trio. caci- th€!  • door; e wen the. dx3fendant went. out, en 

liSsz*d hltn t1Uzrç to boiz t#0,:.21.0.1 

minutes after• lArts. Hoff an, the e. 

,47 '41°1214; 

Q into the room, did she? 80 8 ro.• 
• 

a0- 14pfNan with her? A No, SiTe I 8; Oa her 

311,ary-is ro: Hoffman — 

'AIR. WAGEN11R: Oujeote1' to. 

It V, don t an:swor this .q.iteition unti.1 counael 'Ass an 

iktunttT tiO objeCt.. Wnkt dt4 .t11,0 ,omaii 

what d .8xtr o the liroy,tan whoda,r28 in 

WAGANTill: Io-bjeto that. 

CO."0 the iptstience..; the defendant., 

114; HOGUIRTI: ro, air, it 41,0,6j th5 Tobit 

- the de4erilt: vista :41.040.. 

.00URT:• 'It` it is not oonneOte*. it Will be • ' 

-Stricken out. You aj move to strike,it out 

it 143 • not connected., 

R. Ti.kani1111: 

Aetwrial., 

; iS ttiat 115 tar 

trveitivtint not i'intunee upon the diet t.> 



no.t prEisen tWte. n steep ion tø tolt1' 

ono -et rulin$ In order to keep the  rocak'd straight-, 

Except 

Q Now,answer thE.:t.  quest ion, 4i3s jensent what oonversa--

tion did you have with the woman Who. Cams into the too 

asked.her..if ph, thought that it was ,too late to do. 

thilal tor ne, u4 fitie asked ine holy gar -X----waif gone, an 

told her I .wcis b'etween the four,/ 1703141-0do and s 

said it  Wa811 t. too Late yet, bi.lt it IVA J.obe de soOn, 

that I had to 00.36 ther_e==an tay there .tpr a week or two 

askid her if that was necessary Ein 

cause I tad throuijust. the saIae at' if I ga.ve birth 

to a :full 'born child: 

17hat 'iii you say to. her?. A I told her I did no 

hadn't left, my pla -et and that I might have o ,srive 

a week's notice, and. e said- it would be all riotht then 

but to owe -aa soon as possibl 

Q Aft v she,: said that what di yon ar to he 

asked iler how much • aha. was bIng to charge me..1. 'an she ten.. 

.t toned somethin 0,1xrd a co .1e.*ce hundredr.461,10re* 

MR.:W.11UP%; 'May -I have, u'aual.d,iteetioh 

that- the. witneSses in this case :trial be 

excluded froM the (lourt room? 

!iq 0.01.1Rik: 



Q (QUe.1 ion repeated told her I(waft' t' :that 

*me. slie Wo 1d- vie for*100,  but 

-she coUldn." tpossib1 .fd6 it .any less than, that which 

agreed to Dv.-

Q And. what did. you do? A, I left then. 

Q - 1)14 you see Hoffman again that night? -A I don't 

remember. 

Q - Who ].et you  out of the houset •A Mr.s.Hofman let 

me out. 

Q When..4 4 yoi gollaok.thsr.ei, miss Jensen? A Well, 

went back Pt' rel;kr1ary:18t. no, • 5.'ebru'8rir 17th. 

• Q What clay of -the Week WO t  That was on a 

Thursday, an a Friday. 

Q, It was Friday, the 17th of February last, was lit not? 

Yes, s._r. 

'what hou.r did you go back to the house? A.. Well, 

think it was late-at night, around nine or ten o clock's 

Q Who.m, did you see? .A Wen, r. Hoffman °pinked. the 

door for l'30 

Q.'Di.d you have any conversation withhif 

for mrs:• Itoffman inle.1 she came out to the ball -then . . 

between the witness and Hrs.. Roffmall n the absence 



1.17* 

def(ndant. 

14c0IIIIIN: I have not askdd• 104 

rAG11R. I know, but the 'witness is co 

timing right on. 

s• Hoffinan came 'oti L er ROftimin OVOnect the &fox. 

ncomikrbent Andr-ri° 

She (lei:le:out in the hall. 

1111111211111. 

151-nang '!.ton th 

NSW.' MN. 

-1Vh.s.t did s1le say? told•her I wo 

the . xt dal  to .c3tar, and at fir i she did not remember 

.b t -then Mr. Hoffitian tqld.her I was the. girl that was there 

:the other night and -then she E3 aid she remembered me 
• 

it WoUld, ie al right to come to-morrow, that she Would be 

ready for me. 

Tot remember ant/ further conversat i.on. at that time? 0 

A No, 'sir, not that n1 at. 

o Do yow:rfpleMber any ether thing that hamsened-, 

th t occasion Mists Jensen. A No, oir. 

you r erielabeT vslao it wa that spoke first to Ers. 

Hoffmn, was it :-ou or •Hoffman? A I don remember. 

hB p swill* from the door? 

•D.14•:7ou41r. him call out to ailybod 

I don't rAmoLtlior. 

Did Mrs. 'Hof 'man come into the hall.. Ater; 

ere? A y ON 13 LT ; eh fi 081110- out.. to the  

A I couldn t 



st did, he Say to you when -opened the d..od.r? A 

supposo s.faid, good 24 gh 

Is  that your:best reoulleption? He said good  

ht.." opened:the 4o02, and shut er you, 

ail? lath., 

That 'was* the next day, Saturdarwas It not? 

About what time. A • Well, around'One (clock 

.V.rho opened the door for you on this occasion? 

How lonrr, after Hoffman opened the, door ft': 

q How iñany of YOU were there t(etheTIfl 

A Te3.I, Jr. and Pals.. Hoffnian and I. 



Q Anybod.y else? A I 

Q Tell the Court the conversation that was had and w?at 

• occurred at that the arid DlacEi? A Mr. Hoffman aSked me 

for anything; he told..'3ne that he would get something 

then he Would give -me •stanething to eat afterwada. 

He would give 

I told_ him then that I-Tv:anted to pa 

1,1r. Hoffxaan took. my cOat ang 

the x'ooui; then; I. started te oo 

man told higi to ta1e zr boat an 

4.'How inuch mone: did:yoAgiVe heat 

'Q- Athxt the money what did she Sit!), 

8h oId me tosit-down and she  would -get ready fo 32*.* 

an she went into the next .room and a few minutes after-

3:1R. 7AGENER: 

that 'Mr. HOffman was no 



alas • rtaiA' 

iOn 'did She -s 

ne to •coid ri?;ia 

What did yaa d in there 

Vas an examination table in the room.. 

Q What was dime in regard to tbe doors o;e that. Vooril 

ter you and lira :Hannan went In there? e tit.rned th 

look• the door?' A 

How main, doors Were there 

'after Siie /fact t.urnel, the key? 

Q.- How was the room lighted? • A I 'couldn't tell. 

Q . 'Was. the *room  1 L. 

e- room and the Jima' 



Sate obj sot ion. Bathe .rtaille„ anOl.szciep:bit.* 

WAGENER It is understood lthat 

eotion nplies to all this testimony 

THE aOURT: Yes. 

(Exception). 

THE WITNESS: She told me to set.. UD .thla 

MR. WAGEOR: i move to  strike Out the Ivo 

.“iiistrument 

She put .some objeo 

Yes, 

did jfl .your .private- arty 

tr.. 

Q o on M13E3 Jensen? -A And then. She told, me that 

Y to-Morrow ant, ',You will be-all right". 

Q. Did she leave the th-1n43 n yortr. 'private prttht 

she inserted, as you state.. A Yes,. 

.Q• Then you say she Said you would be al right 

morrow -nitTht? A Ye,e; 

Q that. did you say to -her. A I, dnt know that :I Said 

anything. 

•Q • Did Tou see the objeo4t. that she .inserted irk.voui body? 

A No,eir• 

.Q After he told you that what was don She told 



She 'took ms the zOOM. . • - 

Q Were you able to  walk unassisted.? 

-116retail was outside and she 

him to take .me %Altair he took me upstairs tOe..-'ro 

Q M. T[affnla2i, as you said, is this man Sitting at. the 

•tablet A Yes, sir! 

You went upstairs with him, did. you, to the to 

Abet. di_d you see when you got there 

Woman:lid-rig in .the 

TH1 WITNESS: Them was a _woman lying in on 

of the beds upstairs there. 

Was Hoffman with you when you went into he:t.rpoiri 

Q What did he say, if anything, on the way uPstaira or 

in the rm' A He told. me upstairs there to take iy 

clothes oft and to, take' mrgiiirsete off as quick as possible; 

he brought Me a wrapper to put on; then Mrs.:, .Horttleal MaPet.' 

then lir. Hoffman brought me some soup, Something tO pa 



be 

!hat du you say to the on tha: 

ed anything. 

*Did you go doWnstairs. then?' A Yes, sir.• 

Did you take: your 6..41;oth:ind o i. and put on thelvrapper, 

A 

Tii‘fi.n. What hp'peneye 

tree week an, e 

Met- after t sot tWo, .or 

I would have fallen, ana I went to bed. 

a 

Then what happened? A Well it was ,only for 'a sho 

while ;then f lt•.better again, and.I 'got uD..agatranc

ed i3round the•-whole.-afternoon. 

9 You walke.d around? Yea 'i sir* 

Q After that what happened? A r. Hoffman .brough 

me up some 41/ and he said it was 

filiM11111 I 

Quinine? .A 5.....inoquiñiue. Later in the even—

ino he, -firm]. t 

Did orott take the 144? A. Yes, s, 

rThat -aonversatidn.did you have with him at that time? 

A relit • I don't remember. 

Q Dict•you .0 anythil about the pill, teal me tal yoU 

can reds:/1 at that conversation? 

•Q. You, sal: you .thinit remember azirtlan 

versation you had with him .at the 

A No,r; I don't remember 
• 

t.)f the con—

t me e ve_ u the 



tvIff 

NCO 

no 

D14.,..he E1 ay Lmythinr to you  as 0 is, 1 you ought t 0 te 

I think le  sriid- to  'tee)? the, fever. vnlk 11 11? 

You say.:.:yOU took the .p.1.21t 

Q did.you se him 1.1i4.• again?. MtPt in the evening 

• be /31094: round pi1413 and he old. 

me to take -trlom.. 

That did. he say- at the time he. gave you those?. 

A MI 01, -LB tO ai617f11 

1111.011111w, 

• Did you. take th*? A. Yes, sir. 
3.1•

Q Then what did he gay? A -Then he told me t1iat if. 

thing happened at night to .knock on the .floocr with 
- 

something and he would hear tie dottietairs.. 

*0, 

Q• Tell, what happened after he 'Went aw woke 

up *Tint.. the night and I had chins and very mach fever 

and I had to pant-the prirl in he bed beside ins and  ask he 

to  call for -Fwomebotr. 

What..did the Frirl do?.. 

after that Hr..Itoi:fman• item up. 

Q What d he do to you  A I told h m that I felt 

very stplc; 110 br ug4t I was fxoxeit 1 e ,broA,.1,ght 

iiie- nother :olailitet and a hot water, "bag and then he gave. rne 

a glans o±' hot bran 

Q Then .what",happened? Went to. saieep after that 

and in We morning. 

1)0 

--X.nock.ed -on- thy; floor an 

!xi rewmba eaflytbilinthat Roft.'21 n said to -yot.w. 

••"c• • 



rostifigi 

that time? A I don't 'eMember a.nthing. 

Q NOW, in;,he .tornin .the 'neat morning, :Sunda' 4:9-orn . , 

....Was  it nO 7: A Val3; • 

Q Vftztitt,:hgpreu64 n the' morning when•I 

wcike up. I .fe .rerY sigle and upset. 

_TAO. you vomit? Yes, eir; .very n1Ltc1. Hrs. Hoff. 

Man came up to see me and. asked me if -I wanted any bre 

fast. 

R. vrAGENTM: •I object to that. 

(objection overruled. .EX0ePtion' 

(114 not wt --/ 

•  anythinEr,; she told ine that She• thought it would be 

better for ine if I could take something, so then I 

said I would try to eat a little; she tad. me too 

that I out to lie up by this time and keep aroUn 

I told. he I wa.Tverl siok-,—that I wabn4---able 

and ishe told- me. that I had to keep up, stay up, zic1 

keen sound, until I got loose of the pain and. 

would be better for me. 

:-ou see Hoffman at that time? A Noranswer. 

4(1 111.1 you 000 Hort" ? A Yes sir; 

Q How lOnrs Taft:ir hi 's* vrlfe was there, about how 10 

ter h s wife .1.4rots thole aid you. see. Hoffman? A roil, 

they were tiiebothat tii .rrie time.. 

1110broujht 
•

Ut.the rmeekgast.that .pprnite. A I d.Onst 



Ater.41)0 

Well, 00040 a- ter you had. your ..preakXastf 

t kept ouxd, bi.twO 04 

.1r0V.0 .0trer498"."arY1 2?LJUfldIR.lfP't .ten I was 

suffering 

That Was Lii. the :11.1Ort4rig,:,wa it, -Miss .JeASen?A Yea. -

:71h.an you relt-th_ese 'ñs and the stffeig, that.. o 

71-euer.ttfed., wkratdl iyotro -

any longer but I went t 1y down. - 

(4 -Did you ory otit? A Yes, sir.. 

Q Then what haIpeilled?-•-• A 

up.s ta r. s 

cs:ne rari4 13 itt)staire 

r Hoffman 

• 
Yes,.. sir. 

Q Did ne go into your roolia. A Yes, sir.. 

7fhat cild he. do? A. 'Re tothePatient that was in 
, 

the bed ,eside se. 4,nd brouht her :oivt. o the hell, 111 

-another  roOra, tvi h'e'hall into another room.. 

Oi'l tie have any co /were at i on with . that other .woroa 

'whom you call t-rie atiant at that time', at the•tlane. ha' di 

. this. .L ion 't reinelaber that; when he  wale laaek he "o -1t . 

.ne tn t t hey no v rir 1 ,3t rit smaller oases see the bisP 

oases. 

Q Then you :0.114 , he weie a.One in the •rol341 after he mime 

back? A Yea, air. 

714at. did .b with e 0.7d to the- ctoor? ;A No :Om 



and then he Put his ht-14d, up in my private .pa.t 

If he  had hold of sOmethin and he twisted, that rIght ar 

In my stomach* 

Q Who did that? A. Mr.Hoff 

this instrument that Mrs. _Hoffman had left in 'me, 

MR WAGNER: I move to strike out that word, 

"instrument 

THE COURT: Yes. 

Q Well, .ne to At out, the .object. that his wife had.iit 

n you? A Yes. 

illhat happened? A Arld.a child" alao,:qt the. .474o t 

(indiCatin ), this. f3i.n113. child. 

Q Whe.e wa.s the child when you first -Saw 'it? 

hell. it tp to xus show me. 

• Q After Cie -showed it .to. you what did he do? Then 

Ii? told I:31. that 

Q Did 11,+,ir iflfldc.)n the bed p • Yea, 4T. 

Q see this object that he took out of. you?: A He 

did not silo* it to me; I Out it lyin in the bed Tfaxv.aft011-. 

wards. 



That 1,17,1,8 i you 'Sam ly1iv in the "Okad. pan? A 30130 kind, 

a r rubber tube as it bolted. 

Q After Trs. Hoffman had put this up in 'Nig body 

the time of vour arrival for treatment OU have s 

:Q time you felt_ it was it in your body?. Y 

QTe11 us.i,vhat you tieit-?-.. A . félta1 ;13-Wath7.•• 

•aCh was sWollen up; it was very hard;a the time wh 

had these terrible painsI felt ad: it this InstiSithe 

Q•,Was there anything protruding froth, yoUr* Private liarte 

athythin, sticking out, I Will Use that word? A Yes, 

Q Did you feel anything-. A Yes, sir.. 

Q Tel?.. us what you felt? • A IWell, it was fiotheithin 

hard. 

Q Wsad it ;Ovid or square? was Xi:V.0X* 

Bow, .2 ge,wap..it. A AttOgt th size othr littie 

finger: 

Q Of your 11:ti:le finger .Y 

Q gow, after he had shown you this child; as Irou oelI 

and put it on the bed pan, what f anything, did. he.. 

say?. Then he told me there was only the afterbirth left; 

. it dIdnt. matter if he didn't ,et that because. then he would - 

t a1 e it out when he cleaned me up.. 



antitting, else. about that SUb t. 

latfr ticrtoigt it  out • 

Did he .m.arrt.rt1in, about it, about takit„.that .away? 

A 

D 'd pep grsi, liogfman about the se time? A yes, 

sir, 811f3 Oeltie uP -to the .,:igoom. arst told iie not 4t.B11.so 

'much beaauSet it was :terrible If 6a1,1:10ciar haPPened to et?.110. 

t- INE4 .110 ffrin in the 40010.  

Ylp.; R 

•WhI'd was ia 44. A .He take,. t gtr morn. 

at did he  do,.. with --:;-the,..1.404..pali with theAthbe tube 

.477. 

• 

!1,4, 

Al Did he talc.p-it.out of the room with hi Yes, sit.. 

Q How ton after he went away with these xit objects 

was. it viat he oame,•baok? old dn t say. 

ci You. were- Present - then, werfn !t you, Mins .40,,npen? 

A 1,34 LAX' 

well 'when no d0.130.rile 

0' ggt:, r- eme wouldn.°:t. say, Idon 

teltletabe .think. he. Wive 4-13...8040.9;i11.44.1*.i-:....414 I dC.M t 

heraber 4 

.q 1q1.1.1 trim toll us .what next happened? A fHo told-
. 

that. if I get vexy Web Pain he will clean me out In tl)e 

.afternoon, it I did not-it would Wait 4041 the illOraiigt 

but  I Igr.:s_vext-..rau.oh. tized_1511r7aild I Went to sleep. 



• 
tteil hip amain until  the  next 

see. o and on.• 

woug_.the nitht? A Yes; . du ng- 'the der and the 

night too) to see me and ask .40 bow I tolt. 

helr have any oo etiOi with you at this time: 

that you. remember? 

Tionv :A Yes - 

•Q 'Tell whO', they  were.. A r. lio-ffipan told -2110 at 

.on8 tire ..that 14,8.: Hoffman, 1iad-1380n in t)ie business for 

• hou.se vex-. _Jron  they. had tie old house, and they took the, 

-53rd Stet aft r Mrs. Scharff,. and they had  the old house 

.on .is living. there,. lie Ilre doit loBe 
. . 

any of or o2.(1 customers -because they Send then over to.thl 

'told. 1:8. 

Q Vhat hany.wened.tile next Morning, Mimi Jensen? A He 

SMO ud tol rie that lie was going to .olean-ile :out . 

*out what tiro in the =riling Vas that.? A I guess 

about nii*e _olcrlock after I . had. rar beQcant 

Q Tglio brou.11,. .79u .your beakast? A Mr 

%el be then ten 7.014 1e was goingto ol 

. loot T41.r,• , 'that rornia 



What di.d;AM a Well I don remembfirthat 

said anythi 

AfterQ.  he het -sa-d that wh at happened? A Ieto1d me 

to come into his own room'. 

• Q to. cprie .into h.l.s own rcioril? A Yes, sir; and. when 

came in there there was some kind of a table -in the middle 

of the door; .he 1ifteIme .up on tliis table. 

'Did he lift you up 4i13 Yes 

Where did he put you? A OnL.th10. table. 
..P - . 

(2 -How were 7,rott dressed at that tiMe? o on. 

the vrral)PPr • 

Q That was all? A Yea, 

After he put you on the table what happened? 

•1-t-e inserted sone inett.tuMer.t.- li.pivate parts. 

MR. ITAGENTIR: I •_.,obj egt t'o at. I LaOV to 

•t:cimit the word. ilindrur4ent s".K 

Mot:WIRE: I .haven't . . 

1.  out 11 word instrument 

•BY Optp/T: 

•rou $5e what it was?. 

By LIR ItoGUIRlil: 

Q "Thtinou1.1se ti).4 wort instiwitment you, mean an ,obj00, 

(.43- sot e kind, id thxt: it? A 1 drn't .know' the obji 

Q It wart sorle rtIole or object •thab- helAttInside o -

you?' A Yet; 



Q What.11d he With it.. After he put it JO.. 

t ae..1.f to 'stret0h. rnr private parts; tilen.fne.:.used .some 

gleot vas. a.Oreping iny womb• 

You. felt  him? A :Yes, sir. 

Q ri.Zhe .r.sx)nt,set rn 1.4). 'bo •si • 

.1 You re1ite4it to 'Put Totii.i dId VO es 's 

e to3.4 thatme , he .0 thi.t 

-found One 341 

q•what 1.011e0A.0 

then 11'.1 Ogto :ae dotal ,from -the table. Again and 110 told rn 

to ) to.bed- went bat* to  bed. 

• Q In ttle 117111.011. you had been pr vioixs 0u2 

-.A Yes 

Dia i 141 thee wph.rou? 

;tie brovht a.glass .of brandy. 

IrriE0 d 

• Q NO* ortin (WI you see Hoffn atter that? 

doh' trene.nber: 

• At :rou 3 him n tile next d Yes, 

sut). .t hree ;.)r •?ottr. times a. deck ...any' Wav Vex!' 

Q in A.Ile I; he -0r0Ufe 'Mat o•when he oxne 

O .agr .13q13. 

Q.. Did do Oseictei'bringip.. the MciaLe to tfollr' 

rt)ora? A Well, whi1ev31'r/11.. buht .34e meliOihe he...1z011,qht 



me a glass of salts every lorning,, and then some,ti.m.33 Qutx 

pills. 

Did you ta103 the• xatt medicines that  he gave you? 

Yes, EaT 

1)1d he do anyth.iInTiii`ve ard. to douching there? 

Zvery 'morning as long AS I was thele. 

Did:. he douche youliimee.lf? A Yes, sir. 

ftnan after the stretch 

th of your Womb an the table, as you eay the stretchinp; 

o oUr .:par s on- ti table a you have Aescribed? 

answer 

The 'Court •admonisnee the. Zry, cra,1 e 

attention to Section 415 of the Code of. Criminal 

Procedureand the Court takes 'a recess until 



HO It. thó People sUiIiett 

tie stand: 

DiRTNXA1111141q01 0.0111IfIti1!fll, BY:. WI'. 001 

Q After: the ...def nclant ifOifinant 1)4t you table an an 

examuie. you, s olii,haye et, at e4. .often did. you seeMrs 

Hoff1ran-77 A ph-tr—ffq,Mtitp to ir oom about: q4oe 

a . 

Q. For how long? A Used to come up and asi 

was, sm)'e fe'w words and left again. 

e was. it-.-that----you--left that hou 

A On. riday. 

Q Aboat what tiMe? A, Well, in the morning around 

en r eleven O'Ioloolcv Z.Vess. 

What w: the.. boll* at whAehlydu first saw .}toffall on 

:trusit miirnin, that you lft. A. X gu.ess' Ut, I 00 

not say. 

What is your best recollection, YOUT best. 

to .the time? 'I believe he brought in) 414, .13x0 ast that 

morning. 

Q About 1P/hat time d4.,d h.. bring' it. 14p to you? A About -

At o'clock. 

Q Have any conversation with him at that tin*? A No, 

r; not that I remember. 



:Din  he do anything to yon. that morning. 

don't think so. 

• Q Did he go iitav after serving your txrettkftitrP. 

04. remert4ar 

did .10.0e the room aftet, .40.. served. the  break,fiett'. 

• didn't he? • A *Y 

Q After•he'Iltent.awair.  who wills t 0••• ir t one who came into 

the J.eOo1 A The sdrVaiit . 

Q. Annie a servant girl? A .-fesi 

Po you know her 3,7.i.s.tyname?.• A N0,Sir 4, 

Where were yOusi tt I ng at the tire that 

S707wAlit, 0a4o tn. 

-Q Was anybody elSe in the room besides you and Annie 

'No air• 

d you monk withmillie? She .told ñie t4a 

.No. What •Elh•fi ft401(1.•is riot evidence.. D.d. 

lrou • sit togethRt? _A No aro:WM). 

Q • JAt tAtt Anoth er Virter • Aflie.et to 

Yen, 

A nni. ,1 (1- (ok ,t you? • YP.i3, a 

i )eti2r!ri ,,e no:at:131o*, of Annie, at the It A 0 13Pok 

to :mu? 



lowed her out O the ./•xa.; 

'was saying to z 

You fOt up and went  out in the hall?. A Yes, Eti 

oer, von tewistern, tandin, there, end knocking on 

the door. 

10/. VTAQi} I 013j ec t to th5.t unlestl the .de—

fond.Rnt was Present. 

THT dOURT:' Lotion tr7 nted*. Strtkei out. 

'MR 1oGUXRJ Thlr is nOt a P0.07.03"40ion-

THE 09UR -*hat !:.4f,:'.0,`fiteez!'.yyø 

$a 4*, -that it be sti.jsn• 

Yo.V: .13t *IA he "hail. 'after had spoken 

Annie, t1 erve.a i1 there, .a.ad..yOu. el* a,. poliOetaa 

Year: 

rho w-.i vtlth hiz? A The was.  no  one with h h::. 

_Did-yoU speak. tO Von nvistern? A No;  

Q . s,-“4ifl One after tl t?. -A ljo,'iur. l 

7r/lon .the next tame atter. hat that 7O sw the 

c r? A rail) it ..wis the i. 

from ta limise Of.,1)etention. 



•oan yQ1 . x tlf.3.,466of tflt, Mis#, jezi,fte 

sir; I could, not. 

Q About ho lowt. after kr olz 1"eft tne house, r• Et it 

this via 

been .About? A 7eU, I think It was about 

we 1c from the :i."1.)I.1atviii,5•111o;asy 

q. About ten .rivv-s•arteTtrrix 
, 

VII Or itistif3 Hoffri v.rheA spr 1434? Ouiaid 

•ti,e streot. 

How near the Rouse of Detent,ion? A/tearbe 

.you o,2e him fifter that?* A Th:04:14-:tlz 

•••57tb. St Y.lotct. HOUBO • - 

'44rititTITO 8-0amrt, rf:Isnit it. 

After.•1,pwrv.,.: to your r0044 

I 16 h U, itat di' , 

• Iror T1iste;11, •of7le Up • to. 

the. room, .clifitilt 14? A tees 



tei 1#40 you spIci. to him or-

did you • 11 yo.t.Oesgt :iropx.eolg? 

after the Vie; .;rist tilde he.. was in. 

Y s 

Q How lo:n- d.d you ste.r in the roogi before you saw him 

t od ne to et 11.11r: things.  on and. get .:ready. H 

YoU:dreilsed Tourself then, d.d. yOi.14..:Miss glezleie 

:Y s, 

Q. You took 1 tlie belon nsts loU.:had.:thfirew you 

A Yes,oir. 

Then where did you :go?  A I was t.e.1p4,11; O. Ele)..Urtue • 

46411,ta1• 

q:01p..9lnbUia110e, ..Weren.' t you? A Yes, sir. 

wrts, the doctor thttPibu saw at poilot„t 
• .13.ishon. 

Q "rho wer, tho ntrot-)f3 th?..t • took: care of 'ou? A Miu• 

Don-±1r1 

.q:...Anerlii:I4e Carty A o,„ 8111. 

• grinl 10,j41r: • t is :*.understool. that all the 

wit no 3.3. 3'3 '9.r 'the rule, 11:4t or he ia 

'1711.1 ytau at "ill lon 1.r3:1an viho 



look at:thiO,00man 0 aPijears rat the B. . • 

at IA pet A:3.ta A Mrs' Hoffman. 

Q Is Sfl3 trio wo:44n whom yOt; have oallreHoffman 

UI te.stimony. 

N0..n111e:11 HiW1rn7O18?1W 

this house In East 53rd name,. Manhattan, at the timea-

viqco7.1 .7cat .110111:30 East ora 

he time:a .trou.hav.e State414'70 

EXMINATI01.1. BY 11114. 14ActEg1r,11: 

Q .You 24th Of Fe ixcuaiir , 1911, .don t'.yott? 

z,rou fi:rat saw Officr:r Von Twist 

rrt.te30 arCkUnri ten_ 

ai;rint? 

*rn,)n :P.m It q.house an 'that.inornincwhare did von. 



go? A'Dowx10 thacLtlanoe. 

Down t.o tit* et 

Q In the .a lance 

Who went. with yOut, did Otacer 114n Twistrn go wit: 

o'fficer.5to with: y a ere,, 

an offioer.-with. me. 

Do yiya know tile n3i.3 Of 'the:oiTicer 

ii h et Into the ani iilance? A The officer, 

of th, ambulance. 

next to the dr1reZ. 

n the back?' "A *Yes -8 

smbulance that: :04, wete 

.Then you '1,0):;atäken.to wiaplace? A Well, Belle—

: vae 1:1POPital. 

You weri it niertl in. the -Vard?( 

Q Did theilffil,:ix 'remain with: yo 

Any officer remain-T/1th you? 

of etcmr 14 the ward at all, policean? A O. 

You toll the jiAry that bear& yoix .10:4 the h0140' 

had a. Co.tivrsrtion Tith Offi3 r Von Twistern, did. you? 



obrikfltsation. 

obou ;roux* n. n ,t At hollee, was t a. le 

s 

-Do yoil, va.einber oodurre.noe very .distinotly, tit 

ocoitrren6e of ta11tin7..with. this polloeman In that hOtisel 

A I '?3raem)er it. 

Q -1)o you remember it very distinet17, 

remember it? A T&.kin' to the officer? 

-o yo 

Yee. A Yes, 

What makes you think so long before anewering my Aueei-, 

tion-when I askad you whether you spoke to the offi'erIn 

reference to your being' IA that house (No .anitiver 

. MR McGUIAE:, Does the Witness underetand thO 

question  

TH.FL WIT1ThSS: I did not ic,now__:, ow to anaer 

the luehit ion. 

;)j. I Officer Von Twistern Put You under arreet at that 

time? A , I don't know. 

Q. HOrflone• did you. remain in Bellevue Hospital? A About 

ten days. 

Q Do you remember up to what date? It X I don't 

remember. 

Q 'Tere you- prieoner ivhile in Seltlevue BoOpital? A 

think no. 

Q Then f.',f eryou left Re.lirivue yotTitral whore pi. you got 



orermrara. 

-57th Street Court? A r 

Th&Liagitrate Cour Yes, sl 

: V.10 .went :with* you? A 04:-Pioer Von Twis ern and. t 

other offioete. 

One -offioer or two? A Three. , 
,  

Three officers. 

They Went with you frorti Bellevue IT.obitai up to that 

'WWI 7 

Pollee Court? A 1 -l'. 

07.! loner did you stay in that PIi:oe Court on the,t, day 

.40i1,1t 

Do. you rei4exaber the date  then': you we  to the Policei 

Court, whet .thit e it wae?. •ctort remember. 

-90 -701,1 remember whether it wfgl, the 4th Of '.Apria*,' 2911? 

It Iwas there that* day, but that wag not the day when I was 

taken from f3eilevue Hbpit8l.-r: 

The 4th •of April, 1911, was the first .tirae 

to that ate. Court in .57th • tY.e.et? A Mel, 

I think I fLP .1111st tike 

,,Aftezt 1ov the 43=4 On:the:4th of Apr/It 2911, 

70h.ep A. I Ng/Ps taken to the Bouqe- of Detea:Itton. whert. 

Q• The .Offioers u1r with you to• .the:Irotteelb entlAtin? 

Yefiv Jr.t4  

H011 1011T, that aid you :r.(,)17,1•-.,,lin in the House ( 

fletintion A rell; until the snext day. 

Q. DO you 'knoiny y,you,wer tEieix-t* the 57th Street • 
v.Y 



Igt0t.Tate.w-.Oout. On,ther...4th Of kj?r.- I - 

Ifft-0 . object to,,th,at at3., imaateria1. 

d Ieievant, trtn.3*-Hp4o*, no. Part of the er47.0,3 

examination she knows Why.. She was- taken to 

:•tha• Magistrate-IA .06 

VrAGFATY111: I withdraw the quest tin• 

On'tn: 4th of Apr11 1911 while at the 57th tree 

Magia rates Court were:irou-•Ordem•ed by the po11ce-4a2t or. 

them' to tnkl ) charge against• this defendant? 

)feif, Air. 

you refuse, make a charge? A YeSt 

•'Vans on the. ety-foI1ovang_, 'the 5th of April' 1912.-

you inade the charge did. u, A I don't think was  t 

air affair,: no. 

;How lonz. after do-.you think you ninde i1 c4.73.0r 

iog after te4th of April? 

MR. stibakt. V() ^ t* 0 ecO 

clutistiori the fact thr...4, v1• tftiory 

• • may be*.refrosliefl, by the ..oldgin01 thEt. 

he e'- IS to test reoolicAlic ozo. 

TIM COURT I will aliciw 

thlzikLt rer..0 two weak S after, 

"rhRt, thlt? ••A I thialt wata atmr,t kiwo w,eks elite* 

roeirl! rwftk.rds?.--• A ON  

) grit. iVITti 7AB On the -4th Of April, 1911, 



••••• 

6 

.YOU eeet to nke th4 ohXgeen this defendant?  

itoGtri'M I, Sifizit that he Ought to oon-

duet ihtsetaminat ion *undo/. the , rules. Here is a 

quesistion.wh?.ther the witness IssixTe 0 t e date and 

the matters which will refresh her reoolleption 

are her9. If it Is a .desire to qtteixtion hex ao 

:raey of thetomy I. say. 1 heve objeotlon. 

MR. .WAGENER   031 opjefqt.... 

R.• MCGUIRE:, He ought .not :to ask her. Whether 

she Is sure of .,a certain date,that he himself,: 

-has •but into .her.. Emit 

Q IT14.1.yoU answer the :quesf,ion? (Que3ti7On• re)eat 

as folloWs • But you are sure' It was on the  4th o 

that1911, you refused to meke a hacge itoOnst this, 

fondant' A N sir; • am not :pogriettmi 

an-youtell the jury,With.any pogiti4emeg. 

the date when you reftwed to mal.e. a oh,arge?' • 

to i:Mke- a charge the  first tiMe. when I *Div Iu 
. quite 

I loft -Bellevue Hospital, but I am not sure oi 

'Court aftei' 

the da 
••-•,- • 

71..Lt, you are not quite sure.of A No,_ 

Aw 

Well, what do you he date vms? 

MR. MothITRN: Haven t Wp-.had enough on that 

your Honor. The witness Says She does not know. I 

guunitt we are login time .o,n. scrI4a.tters which ere 

immaterial epkY9 BO Tar fr3 they r to the 000traOr 



the wit rivollect 

•What is rolge..,rec011 Oti.on. 

char 

don t remember any date; T remember I was irt Court, . 

-cal1,3d to  Court on the 4th of April but I don't remember 

r ,fused. td malte te charge. 

  Q You -Were eMirtinftd se..a:Wityisse in the 'Police 

were yeti not? A  Yes, e r.. 

You 00ti.fied. as to that date n the Police Court, 

-114:411IR e:etto that atteStionlis• 

It •cipes ot refer .to any Ote; bo previous 

THS °WET: You miaht amend :it 

MR. WAG-ENER: I Will add to that question, 

on the 6t1i dlY of April 1$11' 

eutrat the. question 'still' 

regisias vutte,- indefinite and impossible to answer* 

nava:• wil.i.put the question in 



difOrent for0.4 your,Nolnoir; and withdraw that qu a—
. 

•  t ion 

BY MR. NAMER: 

7t0w on the 6th day of April, 1911, :t00titY as a 

witnese in the City Magistrate's Court of the. Fourth Die—

trict, in a proceeding against this defendant? A I believe 

It was on •the 6th, ,but I am—not sure. 

In 57th Street Court? A. Yes, sir.. 

Q Did you'testlfy there as a _14tneaa: on, th*. 6: h,..0 AII*0 

1911 against this man here? A Iaont temeil000, -00- :date 

that. I teatifiedf 

Q Did Tail -there,. When you testified ill that Court,•0 

that you were  in ociurt on April 4th, 1911, and that that :was 

t' date that you refused to maXe the:char e did you say 
that? 

• THE COURT.: Was. th :answer to a mutation? 

• MR: WAGMER: Oh, IreA4 

"ova. obUR . If it:was-you had put it in the 

-regular form, "Wta$ this question asked you and did 

• you make this answer On the 6th of April,".1911 

Q nen 7ou weri a witness in 010 '57th Street Court were 

you agOSS this question and did Yott.:;)* e the followingans—

wer? : (No answer). 

Q Were. you 121(1 thes two questions and did; you 200: 

-aler—
theee ansWers to them? ,,C1 • You were here on the 4th of AUrno 



that was .he- day before yesterday, were you no 

Did you refuse to make a.• complaint against thea*then? 

o• you -remember testifying to that 

That was true and correct? 

M&GUIR: Thy, -of °our e 

When you Were taken from the house 

the hospital did 'anybody talk to you. 

.(1- No policeman' A. I don't remember. 

the ambuIanO0 to 

o you mean to. say you don't- remember now whether a 

the time that they were taking. yoU .trom the 

• hospital -that you don't remember now whether- anybod 

o you about the house or about the case? 

Nobody spoke t 0 you? 

Q After .you c,:ot to 

to. you about the ease? 

ellevue Hospital?. :aid anybo 

aar; nolicei:sah spek to you about 0 

would have to t*,,o- to 0oUrt• 

-ho t.ol',' ,.ou that? The policeman that 



.a3tbulance.-, 

:111h1J4.yOu Were in the 1100/4ta1 Ci d 9;e:11,09X•Voit 0 

fume. thezie? IL Yes, ulr. 

Did he steak to you? A I suppose he d $ 

40110 you know whether he d:i(.1. or not?•,. -

1411. lifodIJI1.I.11-• She :s id yes-. 

Q Don't you know 'whether he did? A Ye 

Q.• klow often did ne come there? A I think I saw biz 

pace. . 

'Q What is that? s. 

Did h t11t t,oyou about .the ease? 

Did not-taik- about the ease?* A 110 -0. 

youriint from ,BelleVue-HoeDitai td the 

Street Court in th4 company Of the three officers, did t 

spea,,k to It& about the Case?, A Yes, sir. 

I What officer was it that spoke you? don't, 

know. his name. 

more bhan .one speak to you? • I clOn't remember. 

'no you remember what the officer said? A • No 01Z. 

Q. Nov:, aft 'n  April :4th, 1911, • when 'rim said ou 

make no co1np1aint 1:tnybody speak. to yOu about the ease 

A Not outsida of the ornut. 



o88e W--U oyez) alia- so 0 

0 SPoke to you insi(le the Court? A Mr. Von 

• Twist ern and:. 

Anybo• else 

Q Who was it ? A 1y friend, 1r s. Be Wolf BOIlevut 

Hospital. 

You; awyer -spoke to you;.-AboUt the-Tits:et 

sir; Miss. Mara- Be roll' from 13,1511.evue Hospital 

• Q But before that you mentioned Officer Von Twistern gn 

other .lame that 1.did not quite .catch, what was. it? 

A. P:ftient. .F1.1111 tram the I BziaAp, 

tProralthat? A X0111-44e.District Attornel s office. 

Iirien*from the District: Attorney P#1oe'llact 

lc with you, is that right?'' A', Yes 

Q • They tarnri tolroM. A • Before I Wide le'complaintl 
4% • 

ri from tns.Distriot Attornel, s%otpxce and an offi 

oar a sonlboal from peliettte.Hospital? 

MR.'lloGUIRE: Is this repetition to atop, TOur, 

Honor? .°°114"1 has.been.wermlattnglheie*for fire 



the asking Of queStioni 

previous questiona. 

about the .0aSeIn the Police Court? A He did no - 
only a,sked me: to sign the complaint: 

.Did- he. fell you at 1fle that yoUrivere- -0460Stt 

A. No, sir.;  .1 was not under arrest at that time. 

1.11E..COURT; That  iS: enough. When you ansigeW 

• , - "No"' to a. question just leave it .00 and 

nv_nthe corilnent.  

BY MR. WAGENE.R:. 

Q You crane to that POliee 0011tt with thee Vcilicemen 

didn v A Y 

After that 5*-6i1 Went back to Bellevue Hospital with 

the tree policemen? A. ko. 

Q To the House of .7)etent1on? A Yes, sir. 

That? A Ye:3 

YoU reiaa1..no4 in th6 Hallee p netentiOlv ter:Matt 

(No answer). 

You remained in thelitiuss or Detention that u 

til you were bailed plait • 

. Did, t 1)iSt110t•.Attft3Zlett 1012. TOU in thePo.11.08* 



..16 tell 46'4 -0 that time that you could o? 

A No elrn. ri not tell Mei nothing. 

Q Did he tell you at thfct. time that, you would .only be 

,. held ss• a witness?. A. No,. a 

Q How often since- the time .that  you -aigned, the.-complaint 

In vie Police i0oUrt'have spoken to the District Attorney . . 

itioixt: this case?. 

Q That is tile name ox the DiEttrin't ,AttoVkitiV to 

spoke? leir. 

Q Both tines? A Yes 

.Q •1311t?)0b1th.tira3s to'.14r. #041AVOT 

• Q flfl tithett ti341 •Diet/itot ..Atterney--.0 

floe tha erpoXe to a"pout this ease?- .A 'Ye . . 

•q Who was i don' t know hie name.. 

More than ati-1 ,,intleman whose ns.aa. you don't 

think t tat in al' 

Ihat w•Ars hat? . think' that. 

Q. ."Nrosu rit-I /tat a..tr.1 "-no [ h whether t 

L wit is .111 ni:)pit I Inad.e the co nt 

Q' Lv.14)  ' C) ipliint you. axe we that you 

apolt ) .1 . :*.r5);:lti '1)VetriOt itttOrnar fi 

) . ' %)jatAV 1.cel _ that iight?A Yes, sir. 

to , )u while you were 

1.1 A Nt)i 



OUifl tO :Mu in the House of Detention? 

oete4, d Pffirter #04.VW*.bern.'speak to  Ijoit about 

-the,!catte0 1 1 told, altOtx?Ieft her? - -A X could. not teli ou. 

dn.t now. 

(4, wes it more, than guess so. 

Pive-tizi2esi? e 

Q Then Of.ticer Von TWistern soet o rou the first time 

yOu told .him .vie.ro, a rotit #an: wr3gian„. bStfore 

DI.d..'noboftytell yOu that von had vioI.ated t -la 

you told 1j1,7 any'oody that you made a complaint 

aiplt. this 'tefen-i;nt, or these defendants that no charge 

would be' r4a.de ..agaihst 'you A O, al 

Q No *such thireig -was o !you? A No, sir. I wain"; 

told that. 

Q .11r3.11 you tell tile j1ry :why you  refused. maie a coin-' 

plaint, on t e.3 4th Ot Ageilp 1941 and mado a. obit3laint 

thereafter?, 1e4ause %len I refused 'to .iitt*e a comp ain't . . • 

Said that it, r..F-111 yay•own fault I went to This house itreelf 

-and askel th:341. to do. fAli thin for me, asked ,;(rs.-11offias 

and when 1 :ade the. complaint It was because I was. sick axe. 



. wezt to the hospital and was exatined-'ana the daotor told' 

that I had -to o the hOwpital std. have,an operation 

erfoilned: 

Q _Then because the .460tOr t ld you that you had to have 

.an Operation Derfoiined.1411 made Up ,710,Ur mind t inake this 

charge'Y s, 

YOU aid. go to *ill' 11011$49: VO' 1 di,da 

l.AY s, 

•Q, You had not known the defendants before that time 

• A 'No Sir 

You  went thee.tor• what -PurPcipe 

M. , your:-Monor: 

• Please. 

(RoWAGEITil I withdraw the 'question. 

By IT. WAGENIR: 

You went there f.or the purpose of hiving  an abortion 

You knew that was ong,• 1n 't you? A Yel 

i)1.4 7ou .khow• it was, criminal A Yes, 

when you werit .4...Imre were you marr ed? A N 

EaVfi :,-ou ever ,been married? A No, sir. 

Wher7 ..at that • time? . . 

0.013I101: ()bisected to. 

(101:}i111• t will allow 

P. sui)Init yotx.t.4.1ronort the' witnese 



neyAnninroaral.e. 

inatrAdted.,that She hats. 

refuse to answer any tuei3tiOnfs Which Iny,Iti 10174tó. 

or detre.de her. ,..n early iStory of this is 

not in thin owlet I ettbrait 

THE CCURT: If there is .anylitie.stion that 

• Aight tericit, to incriminate you, of course you; need. - 

not ngrw,er it' doz.:Lit want to. 

-11r1C1r Vitt 

THE COVRT: Ut 011T st at ement is now that jou. 
what. 

)c.new4you v.rere (Wine' at. that time to have been -a. crime• 

Your condition. at that title., you any, coiReiled• you,. 

to:do..thtnp; whibh you ItnW. ,wrong. -3W-t 

that I *don't flfit-‘ that' there. is.anythirig which 

P:o further thnn that ,stategent "there... 

MR. McGUIRR: I submit that the cir1 h.e o 

didly anwerWi these- cruestions: and that 'all: he 

other mat tors are ent irely: lrxe3,0vant and • itinaterial • 

'TIM _DOUBT: Of °Ours() the de.i'euce as a rit.',Itt . , - 

to woes eismine a6to her •credibility an 00 on. 

HR. McGUIRTil: ;$U1.010 to the limitations, your 

Honor, that tr Court ts-Armeaie has so eloquently • 

fitted rawly ,.0 few of u0 teind- it possible. to 1'01 

lorth nevAx to ex.3giine on a collat. 

03' matt, VInetb.ing to back Up his 

eirasillnt ion a 

icrt 



I 

HE OMR e L 11011.114...blr tlise w neiela '8 anøm 

R. McGUIRE: xactly,lAtt in thepr4oesehe -

*al; do, harm. 

TRE 001.111T- You may ask the question. 

Q- 1.4Stion'yekpeated as tollows ere did, you live a 

that time. A I -do not wl: to answer that question be-

C&W3  I was a Bervant ifl thatliatibe; wish  

my 1 ends - to know. 

THE .0PLiAT: •She does not wish to answer the 

question because ;The was ,a servant in a, reputEible 

house at that time; - she does- not 'wish her friends 

-to kno•w anIrthi:lig-a.t.,.all about 

BY .t.rAGE3f 

t. to the date. V7iiat tittle 6.".id you. leave yo 

seVrice in that house? 

. ii.R.,11eGUITER: submit that 4. that 10 Vr.itijirk 

e.11.2.,1e, your Honor. 

.TH1  a.01111.:. :She „may ,.nswer 

A On the 18th. i)f rebru4xy. 

'Whet*e llave -1,014. lived f; ince your release 7/•.ona. the, House.. 

•of 1)otention? • A In Tuckshoe. 

rheroaboutS in TUOlcahos? 

•1:R. ,IleGUIRE: • .submit that Ia iiot proper. 

14!-?ct1on sustained 

14xcept ) . _ 



411 

VIVA yr t13t .A.atner of irour child waa'it 

.'or v4426101 

V*40.UX RE ob;eot - to :that ao. =proper 4,F 

THE POURT: 1 wIll allow it. he'vri,tilOoo. 

be instructed thRt she s not required: 0, 

(1w.estiO.n that luat''humiliate ør .48.8;ritdf). 

T1i ls a. (iwtrition which me.1 go to 'the verseit 

tl'ewitness. 

1IR,. MoGUIRE: Halt' ohe-be .122otxuoteci, as to her 

Priv11o3e, your Honor? • 

THE COURT: Yes, he niay•be.‘1.ilotruoted as tO 

her pri !liege. 

MoGUIRril! That shr Ia not botlf4 to aneWer. 

any que4?tions ithich may bItni.liate .or eat 14-r• 

THE COURT--; The comAission of adu.....lt el a 

or she iii' be as1r:6e1 if she cotpttte4 the or 

Of sdult extr . She iaait.refgOo. tt/ AX:11310V it it teflda 

to de:7T .C1.1.1 he T4 You iray..ftrievior it 

:P01.4 )•L 

'it!‘. 

t.4 L 11--;11? A 

--you •r-v.”' 14:4? 

t to • jeOtion•;.eiLojtittipeci• VIxothyt 

r iiii 3 1.1. 

01.:11:pq'qari 41.1.Stai4ed • X *option: 4A 



D1. 764 •S'Iter haveazi.a'botti0.# :perfOrmed:.:berOte 

No, ir 

Do -7911 ''ne an. 'IA te.1 the out ana. jutr.that thiS 

Ithor,a 1.1•:J'ensen .ia, -your naMe?. 

(Objected to*7 

HE COURT: COURT't It not What eh* -WiShe,S o t 

te.juor a,i4:•,t1 

1.111. ItoGUIRE:• Se hab answered it 17117 

12eat 

Is your correct name Mora 11. Jensen or have 70u bee 

knoian by Any °Viler n?..me. A NO, sir; that is my own name. 

The 4x*.aina.tion that  w s..iaade n Bell.eVU .o 

• pit 1, w that WI) before y:oit,-made your ohatge or.'‘agte 

A Tie ,,,xamination of Lae? 

Q Y, do dt.or s "ex roinat wase r3X-

3tQ 

Whi-oh 

arainati.ln, in the: h0 

tat Made you.21a4e the oharge in the Pollee Cot 

17:- alide atter V.ou • 0 t e charge in the .P.olloe 0oUrt? 

'rfoGUIR11%I oO.lecto to that au imprOper• 

witnes SAO t`iff examin;)d. both :before and 

after tae fir3t Piiliee Court hearing. The quesr-

t ion la L aoi uous that it iu. direotqd to either-

oiri of two evonts. 



E cial1RT: How maii eXaM-natiOd...'were.. made 

OZ. 70u at. )3011. 

TRJ T 44:  Ithink three O four. 

Q..ThTee fb A -Yes,. 

Q Hp wants to kntiw *ether You made the:_comilaltnt .:befq•.0 

tne exi.ami4atiOtx :at .301.1.pitue Hospital. Did: 'áu. 

comp.1.*in.t. peforp. -I made. tue corkt)1 

the doctax.d in the hOspitaI 1164 .examined Me ar4. told me that  

I had: to go :baek for the operation. 

41.Th n you wera' examined,: several tilted aftet 

Y3, twice ate? that. 

BY. ii. IYAG*ER: 

Thu eqw. ttie defendant 11.0fArian last on what day, me 

Q When was it,to date, that you .sal he • x!emoved. ‘this 

foetus. f*om.fpui on.what date was that? A What was the 

question? 

MR -MCGUIRE: ay. .ask that. counsel make 21 

sulmit that We ca4 .4* it 121,t1v0 QV Six verora, hem,* 
is 

If Cnot imp01,40t, ox goes to the quaistion..ot. 

credtoility and of .correctness of recollection, t 



„ 
Bite cannot if X thr4dayot1- the *oak ..X wU3 note. 

objection, to .t le witness' totirion Submit 

that •asking t nece-issarily counsel takes this ease. 

VAGEITN: I would ?Ake o ask the Distria 

Attoin,,its stirh  he cuts in on 4xamination. 

X:21;JOURT: *I•thil* the ouggestion i a .time—

y., one • as to- .11.10c 'direct-10 * the t21 1, but you 

have a right to. ask the question.. 

• Q You undor 13 t i4:111 (rtestiorni. You Called it a..3.ittle 

child. I will withdrOf the -question and Via lt 

ferett g01"..2 • . when was it, on *hat date, In what month,. 

tha You ..sat this defendant took Something. from you, up in 

your *room? It was on the 19th of February. 

•Q The.3.9th of. February. Yes, Ssir. 

Q Was that Sund.F. A. Yes* sir. 

.4• whit tirle •tfivls-...that-1 tor .0,cs •afternocin?.-.. 

around eleven or half past tatleveA 
. . In the forenoon. Ye cit- .eire 

•Hw. lon' dtd he tai A to do all this? A I believe 

••axr. hour . 

Q .-An hour+. 

BY !LUi COURT: 

:You sRlir that so-lne objiiet •Wiokt inserted into ,our womb* 

or your- private Parts. --liras .that_ on the 19th, the clay that 

you gal this laat t Xia.11X. Wed. OM lit:ou or -it the day 

'sir. 



Ote ed thie object? A It wavi, nserted 

x th y, Satiuday, anti th1 dot"endent took it out ,on 

So that yoil day that this matter evue 

on  the- Sundt, es, ix.. 

13itt there waø the, lflsertion..of. some objeet:i 

And, Sundatr. yoU MT. 'w611 'the 19th? 

inf.lertion ;>f which you spoke, wax' 

liN—DIRECP 'VALI INA TI ON TY R. 11cGlaRE: 

Q Pell us 'what Von Twietern.81to you.. vihexi he came into 

the room at the 53rd- Street 1.100* where ' you ofir'• him. the:,first 

performed the operation on mei, ..1:nd 1 told.h.ita Mrs-. 110:er 

d • how. Imoh I •paid. 

1,-ou inquire,. into hew 

hot silfi tIllt; -what 17;10 her health? 

:-011 htri.7 P.Rieh You Paid? 

C 1i1 you tcl1 hi.1.1.? 

Tilon whfat leeks oaid? A At itiabst I told hlui I Oni 

the. qu.qation, ateyzrds and I tpla-



41.1m I Pad 1 0 -

What did. P A H tol 61_ile that MY- r0010 :w 0 

all ovi3x, he v.t downst aiTs. 

mhen.d hn.pome badk again? A Yes,- and he 

td. 0 on 47s eltAhes. 

Q What' else? 

Vitep: 1)141, Do; 0 to the .Cóu.Tt it 

die.triq f±o to •tho 

Q alsq that *7:Ou.!get1 ai. 

1.4o*7 on tale da7 that•:‘,01.t.;came,: on  thiit• Satuidalf when 

youte,13.1 to Mx's! Hof An ouae and.Oa*. e 

ant,711.t was tile• condition of '7opa, 

• -MR. A GENT,11/: I object.. 

A • r was vorszervous4 
Tim •golm: Hovv, }the felt. 

you-c digEft3tion rpod? 

ER.. rAG147t: ablest to that. , do not sec) 

• that ripP- s oomtetent on• that question. 

r. GGUI}U I thksho c4n- state the f5.ots 

ao 0;eneral h fath. 

'ITV COURT: Y. 



(Objection sustain d 

Except for -the nervouSnes s' were you suffering .from an 

disease or. disorder of any kind.? A No, sir. 

BY THV. COURT: 

Q what Was your fsenekal condition of. -health, did you 

feel -well. or otherwise?,., A I felt very nervous; -I was 

Q Do you remember the first, day. that you were trithe -

• Police  Go -3 not  for • SUTe  

Q I ask you to look at that paper. Dees that bear your 

signature? A Yes, sir. 

111.,11 at the writing inside it there. • •Look 

at that writing. Are you able to say when -was-, the- dd. e 

:that you gned that -over? 

MR. V,TAGENER; - That .Paper sp ak. 1telf. el 

'PR:11 COURT:. • Objection .oy'erruled...... 

.01xcept1on 

'you- si-n that paper on the. 5th • oft .y 

Q at that paper. that I have just - shown yo. 

areyou able to say whether r not it was ón the 5th day of 

*9r1li 1.011, tha U signed. thth oomPlaint? A No, Air; 

Wm. t s for sure the. date I dorp t, remember the :date .. 

Cr You .dons re;:iehaber the date? No 



Hit* lioCIVIR la have this Paper? raiilt 

icter3rtXtrOVi.ion. 
• 

Paper reforred to i8.m4rked People s Exhibit. 

for tient ifi eat icin 

MR. litcGIJI.:RE: 

Q What .is M±ss De Wolfets full name? A Clara Do 

hat ls her position -at -Erie hospital? 

th.e..S9oial Service Bitreau. 

• Q She, tamn °hare) of the Social Seriee Bureau, 

Thatis, she itiket1 odke of thegirls thst,00140 

cyspitAil. ripeen she? . A Yes, six. 

Q You have lbeeti 

-the 'hospital, after you left the Itofftian s houø A Yes. 

Q Tnt that so A Yes, sir. 

:Q You arebi11 in the care of is  D4,147:01$ 'ELW) 79U 

not, 3 F3 ilOTISen? 
• 

1 Brien .you refr.inesigt.o as beingizi, thp Polico 

Omit-, 'watt that. Ar'.. o ,J3r.),BA. a Deputy As1iaj1t. Iiiet:rict At 

torney at the 5th Street. Magistrate_ clOttrt.1 . . :Yiatit sir. 

• Q • You siisr that t.0 he as)cerli,you to•d vas to in the. 

ft 'Tr 1'311 Vtatq 1341.16d imt from the House of naterition 

•IerhEr..1).1Vi oil wont Bellevue Hospital.,'' to ltias 



lea  WAS the  t- time • rou • sail/ .1i4. 011,14:••14p• • 

s -first tipie er dadri" me *pen •t 

it  A Yri.a 812. 

We had itelc for about an 'lour, we? A Yea. 

On tie :oileaSieni this .m97..n1n you did not aboit 

your evidence hers at all, did :you. 

1x0itat to tell ,ps of ineth1ng that roii-had.'roztOtt'an.•• 

13E-OROS3 FIXAMDTATION 9Y vR. -10(4ENER: 

Q Wow, whr. Officer 'vat i3tein ca2ne to that 4048e,', 

i3Pealc first to JOU Or: ellArtrou apsalc first to 41411? A He 

spoke tO 'irst 

Q 'Mitt did he 

ong, had peen in the house. 

Q Did .hei tell. ,rou he was 'a Pollee Officer? A. TO, sir. 

TA4 ie show 70u hie shield? A 

aslt .you how long .*.vott. had been in the housel 

ir. 

"Q You  told him? A Y sit. 

Then what did ie say? A ',Veil, he asked me' who • 



4  

he i%sit s- there an oDeraticon performed on 

tx. 4 

•Q Did he asi you had anythingPeOh.do 

house. - A No, sir• 

say 0 701:1, At that time that he was o 

Before he, ai.(1 that he told you he was -4;13040 okei 

oer? A NO, air. 

Q Dicl:Ae toil you ne was a. police officer aftetnat? 

A 'fps Old not tell me he  was a police 6f:Flp 

Q You did nOt tell him t Etit.'you had. an obext.iofl Del'-

forrncd _n that house until after he said he would have you 

examined by $.-.1.• doctor, did yOU9 A Yes, six,thl*i. 

Did I understand yoU aidAtt-, do you. Mean to say 

that you did not tell him that until he said, will have 

a doctor examine you", i$ that it9 A Yes, sir; I .think 

Li ARY J. M o I) 0 NA L D, a witness oallIK 0.11. ehalf of 

zooD1 dul. sworn testified a0 
. , . 

1)4 T '73Y T MoGUIRTil: 
• 

OT (O you ltIro? A Bellprruit Hospltal, 

Af-;„f oar..1d, 7ou are the chi' riurse of olle o--th 



e of Ballevite }rqaPit tat Ve, 701 o 9 

'Were you such in the month of Februev, O3 March las 

and Apr,11 of this year A Yes, 

ygu: know arnora V. Jensen?Yes, ;s 

YOu. have . seen rie/. in Court  4.041sy? 

Q. You know silo tc tile complainant in this c Yes! 

Q Tas acie n .11mate of 7ie13.0trtle106pital Or a Patient, 

at Beilk-wize lioapital in the ward of which. ;feu were in charge? 

A • 

Can you tell ie during ,what.. time .sha..:W•aa:-.Und.e.r. treat 

Tent there?  -.clon11.0xact ut •.t WI3 In 

:tile.: month of February,.t110.--ilatter 

..-Q rlic) t1 phriftipian in .chax e of th1 ward? A Dr 

t4e.peds•ide notes of the traatMe:nt that 

Mis,t.JonSisn ?eceIved. A Stme of them I did.. 

.1.1!ho .r%ys the 'Ithkr nurse Who vra'x with 0. 

t e,..n.4titeti. that were .11ave 

-Q. E.sfie you trot..those t 

not nine., 

Q Are. ther era la COUrt Mk016-, A 1 'Oink -Dr* 

Bishop 

vt thaei t.,) T. 

records tlist 



Did, you give the,n to hie Agive then t.p him? 

Q Ys. • No_; I did not ive them to him.. 

..n.ey are • coil8 ot aft 

And they .the custody of the office don't they, 

at -Bellevue? A Yes, six.; ther am filed. 

Q You did not give any 14e4wai -47:144if40 

ItoDotiald, rticl you? *.No, r only what was Ordered 

You sim» I noted the course or l'Aq)aress. patient? 
es, sir, 

liakibg your oliriical notes, didn t ou A Yes, sir. 

CPOSS .EXAMUTATIO14 BY MR. WAG11NR: 

,nen did this woman come to. the 11:0,.epkt..41 on what 

date? A I did not catch that question.: 

Que4tion reneated) A yell, I think it was Pebruary 

-A.a. remained uti to wiat date' A I don t remember 

the date that slid'. Was W3Chrged. 

Q Doyou knot the-dibe 'when sh0 was clibiotter 



I don'ttr,fpraelti 

1ur1n' t1 t1]a- she v.ras in 1.3.e11eirue Haspital She IC SS , 

',-orispnax there :was 'she not,. A Ye3,ir 

Q You know Officer VOn TIT atern A (No answer ). 

Q 90 •i-ou'icyiOw Von Twisterri, a 6_etective? 

RITTIST S.. Fl- a Vat s.-,CalIed, on be.;.4 

h of the Peopl,e,  being du1r swcxrn, testified s follasire: 
. 41, 

DIRECT TOCAMINATION:TY 

Q Your address? A Bellevue Hoe tbal 

1):c. Bishop, are yOu one of the vestAlt,nt, Viiisi.04,ans of 

!IosPita..1.. in tii County or. New. YOrk? A Yee, 

Were.you eueh in the  rionthe of February anelt: March last? 

4113. 

Q 1)0  701.1 • know . -Thor Jeneen this ,00zpIainina,: "witness in 

thit3 6:3se? A I (i.0 

Was o A en at that( .13eli,evue. Ho9pitaI: in the 

month 13t? A 110 Wae.. 

7,1111 ttIi Me of .?olir own"zeo:o4:' 

7011 -1:1:tJ 10 OW 'Sir; she entered 



iifirspl th4.24th of Febxua 

How. 1.6115di1 elle eta there?,. e was. diT3charg 

on -Liarch 

Q. At„ the time o her adziAttioti sho inwards 

-1 iyou.arta. 4. an xamixAtion, of 

Q . Ravi iofris have. you 'bile Three  01q11., 1)010t6t? 

-roars& 

na'O'e you. n .praOtioing n f,flt;iseases .0 

woinen? A 741:1; I w hue tryn6cho1og1lt,:12113ellevue, 
. _ . 

ad 01_1 tOu.x'3 a.11 the till in Bellevue you cola n.f, in contact 

with.rei.rziocliology. all- over 4,ie hospital. 

Q or. the...last :three rears, can you. St' hat Irou had 

'oven connected with tflE3.•treatiaent.of women's.  diSeases? 

have. 

NoWl f.11-v1 on your exatziins.tion 014-th0a: 

Jen;t3n rn Hr 1.t.1rus was.- -there was a diBø11ax' 

• olooc. r vcIn id hew briaitat a! oontAined xail)r; 

th,r-st. .,;•3 Oonfli ion. I fiwart. 
• (1 knomindsm land surgery, and the 

1,1 litnA trivpk.tir nyo. 131.1)!l3i..e.n00 in. :the. trea.t.ri.ent of • 

• Di it; 1.1 Pet .17C-A the cause ct the condition 

A !IS'. fo"..t: A 11.hor,,.. j(flhifl th eottplainin 

o•Ps *:%);;,:r exstraination of her as stated? 

t. eit:; fro, 



At! EL 

•Q. Referring -to the  facts _observed rets6c.ling the secretion 

of in her aiotea glanas', Doctor, can you state what. 

• Stage of 'pregnancy, She. had reached? A I believe its 

. rare. under two mOnths, 

q vaxat .1S that? A I berieve it is rare Under twoS 
s' • 

months; often it, does not occur until mach later. 

that in your opinion the pregnancy- haq endur 

for m,)re than two months? A should say sp. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. WAGINER: 

Q. What  date, :Doctor, did.yOu Sal she Was.disohar e 

•••,::•••• 44••• 

the hospital? A Sfie was discharged. on March 6 

Q March A Yes, sir;..March .5thf. 

Can rou tell when the first examination took lace, 

. Slhat• date?: A The examinations are .not noted; she vtas e 

amined on admission', of coureo, and examined. .a-number 

-ti-mes-einkwde 4__t_tell ou4ttjdates of alit 

examinations; they are always examined, on admission. 

• VT I L.L.I AM H. VON ILTIST R N, a-Witneets for 

t Poplo, bein„ duly atom', .testified as folic*'  

DIRiOT.EXAMINATION 3Y R. MoOtJIR1': 

Q-- rhat :;our position in the  Department of the 

City of New York? • I am a Sergeant- of Police --detaill 

to tilt-) neteetive Bureau 'as a deteoti,ve. 



• Q Tne place of your ctuty is Police Headquarterglt ion 

SetE,P,eant,? A .29th Precinct 

Q Where is that station house? ft East 51st Street, 

between third. and Lexington Avenues. 

Q Novi, in the month of February last was that your POO 

tion? Yes., sir.-

Q- !Do you know this defendant in -this case, Jacob Hoffman?-., 

A y 

o you know his. wife Elise Hoffman? k Ya3, 81 4 

MR. McGUIRE: (TO a Court Attendant ). WU1 yOU 

liroduce Elise Hciffman, 

Q On the 24th of .PebrUary last do 2rO1:1 remember:- )eiflg at 

o. 219 *East 53rd. Street, Manhattan, New York: CU' A (ea.. 

Q About what time of the .day was it, Serieant? A 

nine o'clock in the morning. 

Q Did you see the defendant Jacob Hoffman there? A *Yes.. 

Q Where ras he when you .first saw him? A Well .on the 

top floor in the rear room: 

Q Tell us what you said said tO'him and what he said to you'. 

at the time you et saw iltra?- A Well, I went through 

the. house and saw the defendant, Mr. Hoffman, on the top' 

floor in the rear room, and.  I asked him itio. he Waslai'id he 

told he was 11r Hp fman. 

Q Had you previously seen Itrs Hoffman? A. yes •sir. 

Is  the v,forom .ar Mrs. Hoffman? A• Yes sir. 



iR.410)11 There 1 no. qi.1,0etlon About that. 

will admit that. 

.11$4.70v. tal4to r1 to Mra. itog:410, before you saw her -hue—

laa.nd? •A Yes • 

"her.-  d d you see. her?. A I. saw hé on the thirci 

-'floor. in le iseai room. 

Ten. ua vithAt you said to her and. what she said, to  you 

VrAGEN]I. I oo3t to that on the 0 

it i13 inoompdten, 

in the ii'resenoe of the defendant and cannOt bind h 

F. lloaUIRE:. I isu,binit 'that this is within the 

Stlire rule. as the mevious. eisttilnon772.43. 

of these. two 11-6o 

TWFITIOURT:. 1°,rith regaxd to the undeT • • , 

inquiil Tame'. you .10,11Y t3.11 usf, 

(rocoe.pti:cin.).. 

Tit; rIPTVI§S: ±fassci her who she Is% 

tO2r.. ilte she vies Mrs'. Hoffmn.. asice'd t . • 

OX' 1101.1Betih VP:03 runnirlgi she Baia she„ e 

two ..or thrett: rorrien-.roomers I then wera tfiroucti 
. owio ,hreef women 1.70. -weraen on the-

-I bbot to this testimoril- ,on the 



• groUrid: ;that' it is not ooiinecte& with the iletenflant** 

There issno victO that ihio derenault: 

Till'] C)U1 T1118 w Onirsgiiet.iiiri• With.the 

• 
4.. 0, 11113E: Yes, sir, and: o ervin the:tlaCtt.0 

at t1etoÜ8e at the tize 'of the, ezt. s 

VE COURT: In -other •parts ef the. house a1de 

• from where tiris..wonian,w 

ered Com-1)etent • 

McGUIRE: I iill•consent .,t 

BY litt. 
not 

st,1 T)on t us 1141.4 ,saw n •  were o   

=pied. either tri defendant or 

THE eQU,RT: That took place in par s of th 

house a Elis.tance away from the pert f the house 

occuR.1.ed by the cortiplainin6 witness here CennOt be 

allOwed 1.11 evidende. 

)414. IleGUIRE:. I want to be careful not to vio—. 

• late the rules. 

.T111,1 rrITITP.S I went to tile to  floor and 

found lir. Hof 1ln there in the rear room. I told 

hit*, I waii4 police officer and I wanted him to come 

d'ipnRttra. I ur0uet4t him down, z.l.nd. 

ri you Or ••'•.-211113 dorn .to •whers .13:13 • Hoffman wets? 

tht !•:.ov.r.:1... to the 1eCOfl..1oor, rear,x;bore. 



hfIrsith t Ant ,give vou rtir Itt'Orderis. 

Q• Tlien rimcUd.you then te ;or- ar.t 

at.:dularloe•. 

rou at  that h)itse so 'Mora Jerksett tb.at dr?a 

tie. re e? A She aS on t he O.., float,ut 

XZbii xt) • 

Q s n bed? I NO; she,•was si tinrsft aoho 

resdin7 :uook. 

r,ou have s talk with her? A • 

to her? A 1 askd h3 iio she. vies and she- told no that . 

sb.o.*s:s Ititt she was daze' thereci as act 

and she s4 'Prie Win. 4'. iii:10M r3a14, I axaapolice oX';iceXt. 

+ SrOu to• ;14.43. the .t ±Uth, i.w1 if 7,roU, don' t t ell 4o. 

4.. truth I oin,,t to 04.1 LA, a 'atiOor com ttiae BOAT 

asat4 lo n ve" lrou .exi-aitled-:to find out....wht is the Matter 

with 7o Si,5 the} ri toll Me. that she htid been  przentto 
'ani th.lt 4„: •ao- t ero to 'Mrs Haf-Z-.1arila' house and tiat 

:re. HotTraext had ')ereor:Ivi an operation upon her. 

311 VTR, COun: 

erolit t n conp4rnatton? A Millis via 

her room. 

.• This viaf..; the conversatian b 



o counel on the at c3r'sld.e In the grosa 

s snsen. 

,TiTY1 COURT: .Procoed. 

*asked her .when• this .op0ratio 

oOlt .l eud aid ,to me-, itIlast Sattlr471 

x tars pevióus. to the tinie that I had vigil. 

ed. th:L8-1ic.)46e-.. .1. 103k:e4./ler at .1offman and 

she. toin, me that 'Ir. and- a-half:or wo aftorwar 

pe poet:1*re just abou.t the tiT4e. 

had talcJm her to roo:n upstairs in  the Tear and 

had taken. )130*e-thing from her. 

BY LIR MoGU1RE: 

'Do you rArne.,4tier anything -0 se O the conversation, 

Sertreant? it I told.- 1.Cir. then that she: ad bettor dreg( 

rsOlg 'that I wi 3 O1fl to send her to.. the. liosPital...• 

Q That lit:11)1114d aft r that A 'Th,y,'sent hp' to the 

spit silt •.11f.3 PI.dwor Hopit,1, nd ,i4ter in the 4iternao •
  
. or imtorant.T. afie w ..transferred to Bellevue.... 

'CI Did 'you have ;thy oonver:;:ution with claisit* the d±'end.-

it cit?:001.) NicdT*h that d.f. 

Q :rou r1.07nf.3t s.irs to see him after you had talked 

01I did. 

That yOu i to him a:oout what -Iti,r33 Jensen had. 

-nthIn A I cl1110.t say t;:nything.to 

'Uri he 4' ithiit to .you? A ita,,Imted .knoir C 



he. Was- tOtn, to be Tarresti$ 3 Ad, es 

IVhat (Uri he say? A e 114n 't sal,r anything, tut I 

-then Sent him ove-P to rie station house With -sDetective 

McIntosh. 

Q Th.en. what 44..;. 44ro After I ,ha.d• the, woman rt. 

gloved tne hospithl I went to tne gitation.hOtise,,and h 

and. Mr.- Hof -01cen..0, 

then arraillied..them et tile Braurth 'Matt:lot 

istrate Barlow. 

mas TDCAUINATIOI  BY 4R TIAM 

HoW.lon• haVS rou.beert•a f)olice officer? Abo 

Q • Attaoh0, to the Palls() .force in. thl3 City? Yes. 

Darinn;.that fifteen yeArs how lowslialrelloWteen a 

tacn r1 to Police Headqn4.rters as a (Omit ive? A Four yara 

laS,t April. 

Q qnen you went t this ho uze did you have a:miarrant 

*litmr 1tvou nom to 'o there'  A 7011, ilTolc a letter 

that was gent try i istrint Attor1ov to Ithe Ponce optimi 

sioner,. 

. And tf tie Polio Com:ii• 1 3 loner instructed you to investi 

it  that lqtter?. A I.,sir; tne,Police Coniaissioner 

it to t.1.3 Inspector letoctive 3ireau, who in turn, 



sent, o me for:.14ireti report. 

Q That 1.0tter was an anonymous letter? 

was not. an. anonymous 'Stork it as signed by so4ne Peat'son. 

Do you know the name that was signed to it? 

-MR. MoGUIRE: 1..object to that as'immaterlal 

and ineompetentf.your Honor,. Who signed the letter 

to the police,. 

kR- WACMER: 

Q Now, when you went to the house, that isyou 'Sariin -

the morning? A Yes, sir. 

ta. About eight elock? A Nine 0' O10 

.,14:ne'o clock? 

When you entered .the hote vthoid di1 you tiaist see? 

A Well, "saw a servant girl. 

.Q After that whoM did you see? A Mrs • Roffman. 

met her in the hail. 

Q. IrhatI mean is you saw her on the parlor floor, In 

e front D?-rlor or in t1  reb.r Parlor?. 

to1r ou I saw her oplAn  from the rear 1)114101A41,the hall—

way! 

.Q, Did you ,o into Rny room with her? A I cii; I rent 

to _the rear room. 



n ParlOr •i•oor? 

raci rry v,rith you at that  t1t1(.37.-

Ijo of riaer? 

hid tsalk wttll 

-le!vr3.. the rp.o*? 

no r.; I waited unt1.1 

rhat we:4; hid: nfimet. A nittect *Bruckinan. 

Was 3.)1aoirfi unclex ankeilialt? • 

Did •L'au. put an a 'rtc in the 

:**11•01ciA .•. • . • 

roagt 

q:ou cappittor. that uzarteift? 

on in pkvti.oultat; 

jU' that rott did -not conald,or 

until I laade an iny.eatigatikon to 

cz.1.7oLtan rith; T didn't 



r+-1 

make an arrest: Until sire whether '.I.had- a oaee against 

the prisoner Or not. 

Q Up to that time you had; de no investire ion • 

o, 

(47 lip to that title you aidn ,t riOw were going 

charge her 'with? A NO,..sir. 

You ripp.r Firuolcrasm there 4114 'tad hi"Don'tm,  

• let thth won.out' 't.)f that toonit.t.? A Yes 

(.4 Now, a,fter y.du ci that where I went 

thou the house. 

-This womazi, 'Thora Jensen,, aid you 

Y ±, I. went to her•  
TO0 

.Wherew ,that room? the top floor fon 

yott talk to her? - •A I did. 

Q. How ion diii that oonverekatiOn vrith 'her Isetf 

w minutes. 

"iv e minu, es or ten or l'Sgteen minutes? 

.lorv;a ttilat):: 04)14166.1, 

11,a 

should-. 

ite 

e perhaPS :Vire minute. 

tri.$u seen tfr the defendant be° e YoU; 

or after,- 'A -6 eTwards. 

.Aftervpardn? A Yes, su 

you tr'- 11113Pit • 7,r(nU went .room. di 

you .wer. I didi et 0 

wh.iri you cel:fe in, Y 

A 0 OW -ht-3r Yottr. '0.i el d? T 



You were nOt her -0 the.. court. room S-day th 

girl 17/Stfi 1.1e0,11 ex'ainined _and: pros s exiniUed, were ,yo U.? 

waS 

You Vier<i ot si.& 1r 

NoN :What was the fir'st thin :you'• aalted .the girl/ 

'told:her I was a police' offieer. First, I aelte 

er her in ?aid she to_11 me her name' was Jensen; I asked 

ar what Sli.e was cloiike:,- there and she ic she 'was a roomer. 

viFint you to. tell me the truth., young 

police office 

c9Ing 0-c 

• vieti. if 

• 

.1pic1aflfrou h • 1oactof Real an 

r'1& out. out. what was the matter.wi*h you and what..tre do 

n; here. 

14 That is *hat yoU,• told her? A tee, .eir 

It TR affair. that  that she said  that--;00meth.ing had 

:open:4one upon 1-zex? k Y fig 

ow, did ou ooilalider that a., threat? 

s, DI not . 

Did yoU consider that you had the authoriert* eail 

the lo.ard of Halth. doctor 'and -have thil mom= examined, 

tf. I t1io;17: A ori:ne had: been . cu.:matted, air. 

Q You Aid think so? A Yas siT, X thOuta 'ql), yea. 

t 710g Or ti oXwiL1 .0a3.1 In a doo-

.tor fc a t .73o.! In lth-1,1t1 h enamel.', that 

aan o-94ation haol been eOmmittod upon her? 



-101161 

Ye6, sir, dit1. 

Y TyloCtUIR1!4 

Q What was in that letter that the Police 1)abartinent 

Insector grit* through the Iiietriot*.Attorney stated' 

"MR WAGENER: I object o la 

ivicaUIRE: Counsel has ut asked about it 

THE COURT: How id- ,that relevant? 

111R. 1,4GUIR1: Just to elevelotte: Viet that . , . 

;T -ttle',:fact 0 .letter ae,flt T friend,  has 'briny" 

pistii0t,Attoih6x. 0ths Polibe.OomtiSsioner, 

and conveyed thrauzii an Inspector to the:Detootive 

b 

THY. COURT: Reference was rna.cle 

deafeace? 

MR. UoGUIRE: 

Ti  40U1-1T: 

"VAGENE R: 

'?..39 sir. 

o the letter 

ObfectiOn sustains 

I have no 0 4.e0t04 to the 3,0t 

they have ot 0 th 

) i • 

VIP, COURT - 0 :lection Sustains0.• 

R. '!1 1TNTER:. 

0i).1,31a,t,stAiat 

!R. !odu.EAT: 

a'ou . H)w oa 

o 

"r011 Pro446e the letter'I will 

n t knot.? a Colin 41. is 

XI in iloomDetent et 

31.:)ila in eviclettos if 

ccon_trery I Will malte rio•-oilject*. 



vact,BN. want this man 

•aPout 

sustain the. 'obj 

ivAdENE ata 

MR• hloGUIRE:• I would not think of cha'glng 

nLin of Mr. Wagener' s andinvrith haying 

ed for :tae Peo791et . being. duly swoV4- teatt1ied. -.tts:1":04-rAtis 

bi MITT EXAMIMAttOX BY 24R. HoGIJ‘IRE' 

ThOU 9d4reee, •Ox'vtc*iia 

rhat i yOt3 Vpsition 14: the Police De 

19;ivtmapt? . A I ait sp lIce orriop.T detfotPre,Pf the fi3t 

00,4! 

At A first grade  dateOtive as-air:neck .gtoitf. tb.1..1440,1110 

force )f t'ie P01100 DeDartmerit4 are you ,not, in the Citli:Pf' 

vat preeinc, are you a-ired? 

• le Sergeant Von 'Twistern your sup 

On tne 24th of nibruarriaftt see the Asfendan 

Ja0oblioerman? A I di 



ef."'titOtqAt A rijoin'ihat- t wsw 

rtrilars. 019-tast tatd St/Set. 

In that in the Itanhattan 13.)rough, New York 0ount 

A Yes, ,3ir. 

What did he sy to you and. what d 

I did& t have any conversation with hilt. 

Q Who was there besides you and he? 

and. another young lady. 

Q Did Sergeant Von Twistern come into the room at that 

Well, he was in and oUt of that =a*. 

• CI You Say 'you don't remember anything that ROM:cart said 

anything to me. 

Q What did the others say in his presence 

There, 1v-iN not tny oorversat ion.; he aInp1y 

Did you se him 'later that •day? A Tie13., I di 

Where was that' A I saw him at the station house. 

D1.d. you hav any talk rith the defendant? A  

:rou 'have aily. Ya.lclyfith him 'at any time 'that da 

/16,, sir, .I d19. not. 

)ict. you ever have conversation With. regrdIfl 



; thi,at... tefs t are. inqUisr Only inn into •40W?: 

ne Also atter 'tilf* arisue. 14 the gagistzatOlit 'Cour, 

s. ta1“.44 to the Police Court and he vante4 to,. OYT at.i1.. 
. • •.• . ' 

meant' tand I told him.. it Was n1mply11,0 rottic1 have to give. 

bail bond. ItrsHofwn eiicI asOistant .111striot -A torn 

riimot :were- .therp-

•Q s thatall• -Dou oln TeCial Of t 0 conversation IA 

1; -thin was sacl. at that time. about the 

employment; busiriees that thle InTin..HofilAs4-.17-46 

••it wen 't '07 
1 nr th 1 Mr 

tenti station house 1)H t riot iv e -1,10Intc, 

C IT A I, 

witnes# arta Jensen at VI t 

A I saw her 1v1i he T2rern1s03* 

A Trent 

er  

ouse on 

o 1 ritneas o.:411.ed azi behalf 4 4 

t.e People being duly e.strigted -air 0110*. 

DIT-q4CT EYAMINATION_BY PR.. McGUIIIE: 

Your arir.lr '' A FIquartsa3. 

:oIntosh, rhat is 7011,1* priti011 in the Police ... • 

Departruli :,or. Rer York CU A AttrAohed to the net, otive 

Bureau.. 

what • 11.3 trii precialatt. .29th PreOzeti 41A MO 

-$t3?€t attjon* 

4.-

r 

14010414:511MINOWN 

5 



ergeent'Von and btr c1cm6rt are -701.1r 

010P0 in _that duty, ave. they s 7. 

wa that-so in 'the thónt&of Pèrttary. andq0).ro1i• last 

ir • 

Do you Viob Roffnian, the:defendan :Yes a 

es  in this case, on the 24th • 

This, sir; I was ordered by.Sergean 

, Tins. ern to 7 br ing t le defendant to the st at ion house. 

Q Did you ta1e 111m. to the station hOuaø A I d 

you tainEr3 him to the *station /1.0),2.0453 

•I'•ou hai.re any conversation 14 

Q Tell us *what he .#. id. to you, aM at you said 

A- I .as.1,..3d h1 if he wae_ 3 doctor or a PhysiCian-ancl 

said "No ne.was-n .1).f3' says he had never told ambod 

he w!...,s a doctor. 

Q *Pid he *say .what!"' ilmaineps w.s? 

han noIjartioliler business at that tine. 

• 111/ VAGENRAI No., qte 8 t ionS• 

1431 HOGUIkE: mat' is the People. oa 434 youi 

Honor. 

WI. -AcriPailvi: Your 110hor). I ncw 4ove to 'etrilte. 

the colp.rers,Titi.ons that were 'allotted in evidence 

In the .6..lisenoo of the clefendentAxitVeen Hiss Roffta 

and rthlts... 

loun: • Have lratt vested? • 



TF.tr, COURT:• Then e will aajou.rn ttinil to—

ioxvow 1391'1 Geniletlen• jb the el's- a 

In,ortished not to clisdtwd a ny mattes eanueeted with 

ariong.7cnirseivei3 o with and not this tzlal 

form.or expxe as aril opinion_,u ti.l it 

siuinhitecl to you. 



eW orlt, Yay 15thy 1911 

stitY)ny ao"-to e n'ereatioruS with. the defendant, 

Kline Rol:Alen in the absence o the,defendant Jaeob' 

Iloffran-wlaCh the pistrict Attorney agreed to oo 

avtl riot. been Connected. 

t jwrt tile first count Of .114 

• ground that .there is no 1440.0* .'or ati act 1. 

Jacob Ho ifflaan, on the  lifti): 

1911 tenelin.7 ,igtablish the iContedOit 

crime charged. in the. indictment. 

COURT: Motion denied.. 

(1-qx.ct ion) . 

"AGNITIN: • kid on tb..e: t 

• .11:4that the defendant, tratiObliOff=a211 

of ebrum0.1, ti 1 F 1 :r61011160011314 Used 

•or  OXi Mora. • Jensen, a certain-. 

'1.4131;rix,;1tilt than :And there forCin thrusting and 

* tiva vae'o be foreed 



,or insertke arsinut an 'ILP into the: vrilrate 

in,..tha OolAnt.• 

00VR cl. 

Igxee9t 

citIr ..liOnOr to -.teX6 rrOm 1111 1111:14.1 

e seorid oc)ulit -in tileiidotient.' on the 

s. no ProOr. whatever 

shotr 

lnftant, 

trig t.; 1.,(0 

(111xoel)tl.on-) 

. ITAGNO;R: 

up' to .tind a 1."0 diet ',or not gaity- or 

F114Y,.fljflP Notion deniticl. 

R. 

t 0. J. ad. a. vlxicliet 'orflot J.1ty as o,- thiS 

frgvi_lat,...0 cob -Tio24.14a4. 

'Motion 4e40 Tftli e'"d. 

(libreoption). 

t. angR: 'And the deterdant 'Jacob Itoffizan 

°mat to d'.) p.cr.b the District Attorney 

to ii-L:to turnsii.whieh o ac,o (ounts he will, gto, 



1114.1,CoatiI1114:1 I do not think  thlr3 Et ogee. 

i'aot we  should be compelled to elect 

think .we ought 10 go to the jUrl on the intliotmen 

•as it 14.01a 

defendant). 

0 0 def.endant  

in hi :3 OTM ttifiedas•follow0: 

.3)1,1i130T 13XAltIMATION By MR. WAGENER: 

Q T L. ou live? A. 2a9 EWA 533rd tet. 

Now, you are ohe o he.defenda4 0 1Uth1t1 eacle? 

Y,V31 



You .a e one e lieteOns chal7ged tn thie case?, 

Yes sir. 

The other 'defendant. Ise 1Of'tian4 ‘you wise? 

A Yes sir; she 

  Q Do yojl know 1-6-giri that was  on lhe stand here yes-

terday9 A Yes sir. fow her. 

Ttt. es 
• 

you pep her in, your house at any time? A Yes sir 

saw her. 

•

 

Your house is w lqUitiber 219 e.st 53r4 Street1 4-
Q. when did you ee exa..  

act1y•terneffiber the date._ 

Q- About? A About when she Stated yestera1 -that w 

right what the girl said. 

`.,tr ow oftanodid you see her in your houS wine.e?' 

O w can you tell was it this  year sir, 

was this year. 

What month" A In 7ebruar • 

Can you ten -the Jury, as near as you' Can get at. 

t e. da.y it was in February" A I think tiie i4th..Of Pebruary. 

f). id she steak to you? A NO sir. 

0. Did you speak to ler A No sir. 

Q Wliere did you see her' A he rang the tell;. 

opened tl-e- oor. 



Did she say anyt A 10 sir, the said 

Scharf heie 

at did you say said "Mrs- Scharf don't lire 

here any more 

Q: What did sl,e say? A She said could'S e SeErth 

of the  ou  

.What aid .you say9 A said could she see the

be home and I said 'ar.ound o clock" -T n gib.0 

will be back again." 

l\row at tbat time was there •anything else said by you 

or by -her9-7-A• -ITO sir; n-o-tir.. 

Q

 

-When did you see her next? A Around c1.9.0 

again the same evening I opened the door again for h r 

she asked m if tvie lady is in 'now. ,ancl I said "Yes she 

now" "Can I see "Yes, y.ou can see h le 
vai• 

er into the front room and I went dvn stairs irto the kitchen 

and t.told 

See u" 'That is all. 

you ".(d into that front Toom atthat time? A W 

1,746this a the cQnversatiofl that youith this 

girl" Yes ir; t at is all the cOersatiOn. 

Weard 'at this girl testified to on the vitae* 



She testlied th:St on the 19th dt •FérUar 

19114ou went into her room1 that evening II fele** with 

aninstrurnent from her private parts, ietiat so? 

didn't do, abyth.l.ng of that kind. 

On the. 19th of, l'ebruary 1911 was is Sunday, 

Yei.i,Adr remember that 

Q Were you in your house on 'that mornir,rin the fan 

air; I was riot. 

When aid you -leave? A Around nine o'clock. 

In the morning A Yes; Sir., 

Q, When did you come back?' About half p'ast twetTO 

when dinner time. was. 

Q,• Then from nine o clock'until half past twelve where 

were you? A Where. I was? 

re • 

wae over to see a friend r - 

nane of your frierd.. lir. itill*am • Give m ,  

A.Pitt. 

CI Where was •he. -what 

33? East 50th. Street. 

Q In this City? A-. Yes, air. 

• 

- New York City? A 'Yee Sir. 

. On that day, the 19th of Pebrusry 1911 did yoU 

touch the oody of this, gizbl. at all? A No sirs I did no 

Q You have heard .the testimony at the girl that on 

the addreas where you wen%? 

another occasion you lifted' her. up on your table? A 
- 



kart. thir About that. 

Q' Did rou.do .az such thing 

Lift' her 'on the table? A. Not sir I did no 

And take trOrt- her artf arter birth? A' 

Touch her .prive.te pests At all/ A No sir; never. 

Did you, give her a* p4.10? A No 

, Five little red ills? A No air;.!.don't know Vail 

ou 'mean; I don't have atv pills in rboue. 

Did you ever give her any? A No air* 

AnY pills, am quinine pills? A No., sir; r did not. 
When she came into your house and went up Bteirs did 

 take4er u_p_stairs? A ___Xas air* _showed  her the'room. 

You showed her a room? A Yes, eiT• 

When you showed her the room did you give her a 'mapper 

A No. sir. 

- Did you tell her not to .go to bed., -to' Walk around the 

-No, sir, didn't tell her arrirthing. 

Q, piriply shoved her the room and Omit) down again?: 

Th. at is sill. did.* 

it Did you ever tell this girl you gave her quinine pills 

reopMe? 

for the purpose of keep 

.not. 

he fever down A No 

Q, Did you ever give her brandy? No, Sir. 

Or apply a hot water bag to her? 

Or give her_medioine? A No sir. 

sir. 

No girl I did 



bigger. oases you 1:tatte to look- out for, or WardS to that et4seet? 

r don't know -anything .atiout °twee; I t know 

what, that .means. 

Q Did you have a .ccinversation with thiit:gir1.1.0 Which 

you told her that you and Your. Wife- were in that ti04060 or 

maw years? 

4Q Did you ever scrape his girl's watt. or  o anything 

the inside of her womb? A No, sir. 

Q.• - a 1/Aais containing slt. or any 

other substance? A No, sir. 

Were you present 1n tñe Police ttourt when this irl 

was examined in this case? A Yes  sir, I was. 

Q Did. she  say anything in the POlice Court about vi3,10 

Objected to. 

Did you: hear this girl's testmo in the P.OliOe' 

Court,or .did you hear all of her., testimony ;thikt_e4e gave in 

this action from beginning to end • yes or no? A 'yes, 

Q, Now in that testimony in your presence that 
and testimony. • . 

exam nation was had in the Ulty, Magistrate s Court Fourth 

District in thie" City YeS, Sir. 

On the 6th of April -1911? A Yee, Bir., 

Before. City Magistrate E. C Butts? A Ye sr.. 



upon it. Did this girl, testify in that examinaticai.bei 

in this case, in giving her testimony,. ayr.any.ihing about 

pills? A No, sir. 

•MC &VIRE: I object o that. 

TIE COURT: Do not answer. 

MR. WAGEIVE I told• him not •=Wet 

RE COURT: Do not answer when the `Matti* 

Attorney objects. Your attorney has advised you. 

• not to answer the question until these Is a 

• opportunity for the District Attorney to objeot., 

Did. she say anything about lifting-her-,on 

and lifting her from the "table? 

• Objected to, objection sustained., exception. 

Did she say one word about scraping of her :womb 

Objected, to, object ion sustained,exception. 

Have you ever been arrested before? A No, ir; 

nevere 

.Never in your life? A No, sir,• never inmy life. 

How lone have you been in this Country? - A Eighteen 

• yeare or nireteen years. 

CROSS" XXAXINATION BY MR. M GUIRtt; 

Q, • When did you marry Slide Hoffman? (No ansWer:) 

Ci! (Repeated) Do you .hear me? A Yes, Btr, on the 3rd 

of ootober 1891. 



k 

• 

There•were times When you were not living with he 

s that not A. • Yei t. 

She was impritioned in the Penitentiary, wastift 

• . WAGENER: I object to that andi take an 

exception. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. 

WAGENER: Here ia a question that. W. 40 pi 

r the. Purpose .of influenothg thiB Jury,. by the, 

District Attorney. 

THE COURT: The Jury are instructed to die-

regard it. 

1&. WAGE= : 1 km* but the.. damage.‘i s o 

THE CCURT: .Prooeed.. 

'MR. MC GUIRE: If. Counsel will get tin•ou, 

will get something. I. submit When a man says to to 

n crostrexami_nati-on, that he has lived .contin1005-

y with la is wife, I am entitled to show that he is 

not telling the. truth by  proving that for a.0ertain • . 

Period she was not in a position erehe couId 

•

 

live With h 

THE• COURT% It would be well to proceed by 

other Methods first. 

ML Mc Oupz: suhmitting the matter on 

the question Iiihich my friend is so troubled about. 

THE COURT: Now that his metbrysis.refrolOok 



Pt - 
you may 'ask him the quest ion. 

BY MR. IEE:' 

There. were times vtaen you did not live with.your 

wife weren't • there? A Tee 

WAGEN1g: I obje-t to. cpiestion.-

Why did you tell me yoU.had.alivays lived withher 

Objected to, objection overruled, exception 

tel  me you always. b4.  

with her since you were .married? A I did not. thiflk of that. 

. You did not think .of it? A • No, 

We .11 now, during what time was it you did- not live 

with your wife? 

WAGENER: I object to that as ter 

CCURT: Objection overruled. 

WAOISER: Exception. 

Did you hear me k Tea sir. 

Q Will you answer me? •X don't underlitand so ,ve 

well English. Yow must exougie me. 

. What don't you Understand. about that .questio 

ain't so sure well- enougn 

q• What is it about the question you don't understand, 

A Would you please repeat it again. 

(Repeated .as follows: N w during what time was it 

you did not live with your-wife?) 

190'7 to November 4th the -.same year. 

It Wail on '3aruary 4th 

te, 



Well where *Were you living at that time..? A 

living at 35rt East 50th Street. 

. Where was your wife living? . 

1AR. WAGERER: I object to that as ineompeten 

• irrelevant and *material. 

question. 

THE COURT: I will allow it. 

VER WAGERER: I take an exception.' 

It was at , that time she was in the Tenttentiary. 

The Penitentiary on Blackwell s Tsla.nd? A Yea., Sir. 

What -business were  ou-in in Zanua-ry—

kept a furnished TOOU1 house. 

YOUT wife .lived with you there didn't she? 

lived with me then. 

You .h  boarders: there too, didn't _ Sir.. 

What was. your wife' s business? 

WAONTM: I object to that- as immaterial. 

Objection overruled Exception. 

A. She was a midwife. 

(), You had no other business than living. therein that 

house aid you? A •Yes, s r. 

• What was your business I. done the housework 



u were a house servant? Yes, sir. 

You had no other business? A. No, sir. 

ou nurse the people that were in the hour? 

SIT. 

q Did you br mg -meals to the, people that had mea1etiere 

Sometimes I did. 

Well-weren't, all the  people that had TO01#15 there 

sir. 

q Give me the name of a man who lived in your house in 

January 1907? A William A. _Pitt. 

Is that the man who is to be a witness here to. ? 

Yea, sir. 

Q Did he live there before the 4th- of January 1907, A 

Yes sir. 

Q, How long before that had he lived there? A About 

e.ight months. 

Q, .Was he the only man in that house beaidee the women? 

There was more men. 

q Who were the others? 'There wail, a *lc eman; 

who worked in Lambert' s the jewelry store. 

q You had no other business than living in th t hoUr 

keeping furnished rooms, is that all? A I had no Other 

business. 

q When did you leave the Brewery :where yott...hatt 

A About a year before_ that time. 



• 

Had you ever had any other business sinceryou $ oppe 

working in the Brewery in 1905? A No, sir. 

Your wife has been a midtWife ever since, hasn't she? 

I don't know. 

You have lived with her right along except this period 

and you don't know what her business Is, is that so ? 

know she is a midwife. 

Hasn't she carried on the business of midwife in the 

house where you have been keeping furnished rooms? A I don't 

knov-i-"that. 

Q You don't know that? A No, sir. 

q What do you mean 

what my wife does.. 

hat, t mea 

You Seethe women that she akee care of, don't yOu? 

sir. 

Never sae, a woman in that house? 

Q Dom you understand Toy question'? . sask you whether you 

have ever ieen.a woman in that .house where your wife carried' 

on the midwife business? A I had rented rooMe to women •too,, 

Q Do you want to be understood as Baying you  never sew 

a woman in the house where your wife oarried on the midwife 

business? 

IFAGEHIE: I ohjeot to that. 

THE COM: Objection overruled. 

154 WAGENER: exception. 

There is no proof that she carried. on ,that 



-Do you hear Me? *leads aneweti A thad. a room rent 

ed out to ladles too. 

Then you did see women-inthe:...houde where he carried'on 

the business of midwife? _ .A. But. they *men on midwife iYuei-

ness there. 

Whe_ther._they were on midwife business OT not they  had 

rooms there. You saw them there,' didn't you? 4 :Yee', 

•-ii,v/ do, you know they were not there on midwife bue 

ne se? A • Well, they simply boarded there 

How . do you_knoW they were not there .on Midwife. titols#401,13. 

I don't know. 

Why did you say that you knew nothing at all 0out.,. your 

wife's business as a midwife, why .did you EsetP that just to 

Tell • me. Give me the reason. A I thought you meant 

she had. roomers :there. 

Now do you really niean'to• have that answer go to the 

ry, :that you thought I meant  if'you had roomers there? 

Yes 'sir. 

Is :that your answer? A 'Yes, sir; that rl understood. 

Now, did you live with your wife contimouslyfrom the 

4th of November 190'7 down to the time' of Your .erreet on this 

,charge? A Yes -s r; I. did.. 

Right straight •along sir.. 

4. Are• -you. sure A - Tess sir. 



You have not lived, in the East 53rd. Street bolls° a 

1 did- you I lived there.. 

Did you live there -9ontinuously 

Prom November 190'7 *Own to your arrest in:Pe'bruary '1911? 

I lived there frOm• 

Q Will you answer. me. Did. you live: ozt1nuou#1y, .in 'Oda 

53rd Street house from November 190? to the time, your arrest 

 n'Pebruazy-1011? A I•--cantt.--xemenitier„t a _ecifc_ao 

September 11th last Year. 

9, 'Where did you live  before that? A 50th Street; 

East -50th-Sttiee-t-

Q, What is youi. sem s.nart)e? A Max 'Rot a 

Did he keep on living at 33'7 East 50th Street? A 

What is Max- lioffmant 6 business?' ife ie. a•St.sialan. 

Doesn't he keep. a ;furnished room haiise" 

Doesn't he look out fat the house there:-, in:,50th;Streett 

A Yes,sir he looks out sometimes for the-house. 

Q, 'What is- thename of the woman that lives in that 

house in 50th Street? A Mrs. ingefroon. 

Is she. a midwife? A No, sir. 

Q Who is Mt s. Schraff? .A Mts. S brief ii' the landlady 

of that house where.I am living now. 



She has no beeir.there in some time, baa she? 

ter X took .possession of the house then She left thor 

Was she a midwife/ 

MR. *WAGERER:. I object to that t 

What is Mrs. Schraff"s first name Anna Bohr 

How. long has she been a midwife? A I don't know. 

• MR WAGERER: I object to tbst as immteria1 

and irrelevant. 

Your wife bought out Mrs. Scbraff? 

• MR. WAGERER: I object to that as immaterial 

and irrelevant 

ME COURT: Objection sustain 

or rather when VTwieter Were 7 u at this house when 

-^ 

arrested you at this house in East 53rd Street, who e 

there.? A There was a woman there: 

CZ, Who else Was there. Will you give Me 

VER. WAGERER: 

and irrelevant. 

MR: MC GUM: 

se 

the name 

object. to that .as immateria 

oupposed that the °robe e 
, • • 

ination mint into a man's story 

THE .CCURT:, Objection overruled exception. 

:Did you hear the question? A :Yes, Sir. 

Well, who were _there? A There was two girls there. 

What were, their . mines? A Mosby and :Termen... 

Zense Harris. 



. It 

Vise Jensen' w 0, wasn'tmmalt Oh 001 10% 

she was there too. 

111.afroan, did she have. a roam on the ,t 

floor. 

,Where was your room 'A  room was on, the secOnd 

floor front. 

CI Yours was. on the second floor front? A .:Yes, 

:q laitro—was th-e-Mosby 

floor rear. 

Q Where was. the Harris girl?. A. She was in: e pepOnd 

'floor rear, 

ear "the 4t08b3r 

They were colored women, weren't they 

You saw an ambulance take these  three liftmen away? 

.What -i's. that? A r. 

Row many ambulances did you see in front oftbe door?. 

didn' t•see .arry ambulance. 

Didn't you see Miss Jensen go away in the 

A/ Where were you at that time/• A 

the detective. 

am'bulance? 

I was ten away by 

0/ before were -you/ A.- Yes sir. 

Q. The three girls.were• taken, weren't they? 

MR. WA.GEXBR: I object to that. 

• Objection overruled; exception. 

le 



A I don't know ey were sick or not. 

YOU don't know 

alisten a minute witness. You say !you 

that house eis a furnished room house, 4.ia you 

s'Tou did the boll Eework? 



*AA 
4.47ArirJo, 

R. WAGE1R: .I.bjeotto t 

BE COURT: Objection stistal ed 
4 

Was 'there a Richardson girl in 'to.? 

WAGENER:. I object to that.. 

I mean a Barris girl in bed? 

• HE Co You want yout_.:01) eCti:On 0 op 

- questionsof that- chiracter. Xt will be 

noted. 

• MR. MC (WIRE: I wish Counsel would Eli 

MR WA.GEltlER: —Counsel' has a .right -tn-st 

up when he makes an objection and ,the ••Distrie 

Attorney has no right to tell him to sit down% 

When had you last_seen_the Iensen girl before they 

were taken away by Van Twts tern A The Jensen girl?' 

had seen her the. night before. 

When had you seen the Mosby girl before you were 

taken away by Von TWistern? 

1E4 • WAGENER: .1 object to that on the 

ground that. it  Is immaterial and Irrelevant 

arc.1 not part of tile People's case.. 

Objection overruled; exception 

Now may I 'put the queiition? 

THE CCM That was -the colored girl? 

MeGUIRE: Yee, sir. 



11 

- 
99 

WITNESS: Isaw her the same morn 

MR MC GUI 

Where did you see her? A -Walking about, passing the 

room. 

What room? A Tie TOOTtl,WheFil 's2ieas sleeping in. 

You werewalking .ast 16.0om A Yes, sir; 

door was open.• 

Did- ou see—We 

Were they dressed or undressed? ,A They were 0 !tti 

they -wereisitting dressed, in a dhatr.--

Q Were they fUlly dressed for the street? , 

per on tbem. 

;Wrappers on them? Litton t know what they a4 on 

exactly. 

hey 

r • 

4" 

Y!oxt:- 1:•teen brAStiirik r meals? No sir.. 

Who.' brought them their meals.? Maybe Mrs. Hoffman 

brought thin u, 

-.Mosby: 

I don t 

Were•you..in- the rod* there at a 

r the Harris gill? A No, s r. 

Tell me what time did. the Harris girl. come 

time With eithere 

to the hotkeiet, 

R. WAIENER: I object to that as iMmaterial 

and irrelevant to this issue. 

TER COURT: The question 

Exception. 

can't rezromber the date it .was the dear before the Ito 

B allowed, 

— Po 



-o clock. 

What time  of ,the In the eveni 

What time? A rn the evening. 

When clid.tii.e Mosby girl, come? A .She came after, 

What title? About I guess it was wourri 

Who was there eighteen hours? ; The Richardson gi 

Who wasthere .-twelve-hour - -A- .:T:. Us 

..Q, Was the Harris at the house *before thello 

can't exaotly remember that. 

Q

 

You said so ju at now. 

o-ther-,-eight  en_hours_ 

u paid cre Was there twelve 

The 'Richardson girl maybe .was there.. 

Didn't you just .say that? A Yes,sir.;  I said, that 

Q, Now, as a-matter. of fact Witness, hadn't the Mosby girl - 

been there some days before your. arrest. Look at me and ansWer 

Me now. Was not the girl there some days before ?ter arketit 

clock. 

R. 

sir. 

When did she come She came 

-Honestly, when did she. come She came about e 

MR. WAGENER: I  object to this method -of 

- examining the witness. 

TEE COURT: That question is objectionable. 

She came when? A ' She came at eight-otolock._ 

The nrght te-fore? A yes, 



longer. 

•Q It was six bouts-befeke the other girl waan t 

pan remember f It  was the -night- before-or-it---- was. 

the morning; I really can't remember. 

Q, Why' did u say it was the night?. A .Because you 

mixed me up _so: 

You.--are- 'Mt -ng-y tat men 411-tne8s ow-4-

as a matter of fact had not the Riehardson girl been in the house 

Or SOUS Not 1 nger than twenty four hoUrs. 

She wasn't there. you think but twenty faar hours 

Yes -sir. 

That is your best, opinion? .A 'Yes, sir. 

Did you see her taken away in the ambulance? 

How long had she been in the house?. 

MR. WAGERER: I. object to that as immaterial. 

Objection overrualde exception., 



4 ft 

How long had she 'been in the .house? A She wa in 

tho.house a week. 

• When did she go away? Can't remember the  date. 

.About bow long before You were a.rrestect? 4, A1400: two. 

weeks before'. 

Q Had you been in the room where she was? - 

*@ Never in your life? A /*maybe. was in, Juet brought 

up irate' meta 

Did you serve her her meals? A .Sometimee. 

Was she sick n b el I did not see her n be 

What that? I did not see her in-be 

Why did yott bring her her meals?: A. Well she.aske 

f she could have board 

.Did you serve board in the roome? A Yes, s 

Q. Al A Yes sir. 

Where was your dining. room? A • . DC51711 stairs in the base. 

ment. 

In your 'front basement? A Yes. 

Q, You were serving meals to the girls in this, furnished 

•room house up in the rooms? A A,vary smel1 dining room. 
A 

They did not come down o tle dining room at all, theyl 

Q And the girls got. their meals brought' in the =octet did t 

they? A Yee,. ,sir. 

Q And you servild•themi, A Not elwey 



usually, didn't s eir 

.What is the nam of your •servant girl tlat" was in 

house? A Anna Wirt. 

Is .she a witness in -the. case? A No sir. 

Were you present when Anna Wirt told Miss Iensen 

stay o: tell You vinen'Ahe police were there 0 

was a. roomer .in the house? A sir, I was. not. 

.01 

Q Did you tell Anna Wirt to go up stairs au. tell ea 

girls that they were* to say they were roomers  if aflyDody 

asked them any questions? A' No, sir, I did no 
• 

- When were you admitted to practice medicine?. 

--never—practiced—mad-tot 

Q You rover studied medistine, did you? A No,. r. 

Were you ever a Turin.? No. sir. 

Q How long have you been keeping a furnished room helloe 

which your wire carried on the business of .a.midwife? A 

.don t know anything about Mrs. Hoffman. B carrying on the , 
' ness.-

ness? 

Do you It one stly 'say th at Yes, eir. 

You don't know anything about her. carrYirri; on .the bust.. 

sir. 

Q Don' t you know that she was sent to the Island tor •oar, 

ng on the. business of a midwife improperly? A I don't 

knov! that. 

1111; WAqENER: Iobjeot to that. 

THE COURT: Objeetio..n overruled; excieption. 



MR WAGERER:- I object to that on thesgrotirat 

that question is only put by the District .Attorney 

r the purpilse of influencing 

Objection overruled; exception. 

BUt don't you know about. it? A That she was -oonviot-

ed on midwife? 

Q You 'khow she went to the sla don- tyou? A I knew 

What is your recollection or w1y she went to the /Bland? 

MR. WAGENER: I object to that. 

THE COURT: Objection overruled; exception. 

MR. WAGENER: The Judgment is the best evidencei--
, 

TH  WITNESS: r As much as I know she was convict* 

• ed of keep ng a house of traisance. 

Wasn't it a nuisano.e because by reason of the people 

who went there to have abortions performed? A Idon't-  

know. 

Q, You do t know? A Io, sir. 

• You lived in the house with her? A I did livethere 

but I was wnrking a day at that time. 

Q, You .were working in the house weren't you? A No, sir; 

not at that time. 

•Q Didn't you just testify you lert your business as a 

worker in a brewery in 1905? A 1To, sir; 1906. 



Well your 'We "didn't away uriti3 3aniary 1907, 

did she?' A Ted, 

Q, Then you were working there .before he went away 

was befbre she was oonvioted;. I was wor1ing in the, breve 

Q Do you remember the testimony that you. gave in the 

'beginning of "the cross exaininatiOn? So an00:0 

Do you rember it, yes or no? A Yes,..eir. 

You do? A Ye 

Do you remember saying anythi.* about the 

stopped working in .the brewery? A ,I stopped work in 

reweryS._ 

Q, Don't you remember giving' evidence about it, this. 

Yes, sir, I remember'. 

Q. New ,what year was 

n the brewery. 

remember. 

t‘that yoU said 

you remember or d 

Well what did  you say? 

the time I was .giving. 

TEE CCUE.T1 That not what he Is asking yott. 

He is a-sic.in_g,you what you, esti abottt, it 

.WITIGISS: I .said 

BY MR. lie MIRE: 

Q Well tell us what. 

brewery after I 

Q, What did. you. ,t _about it .thie wining 



kept a furnished room ase.•

 

' 

Is that an answer to ray question, that.you.kept. COX 

niehed room house? A At, that time when she was convicted. 

Didn't she carry on the business in your house? 

don't know. 

Q' Didn't she have her sign up as a midwife on your house? 

sir. 

'Didn't she -advertise from your house? don't know. 

• You don't know? A No, 

She was your wife is. that so? A. She ma atf; Wife. 

You knew she was a midwife! 414n't you? s!, sir. 

Q You knew she did. business - as a midwife didn't you? 

I don't know that. 

Q You don't know? 

BY MR. WAGENER: 

.Did you understand the 

trict Attorney, the, last iFiee 

-I did not. 

When did you stop working in the brewery 

working my papers will show." 

• Q What Papers? A My: books will shim it there. 

MR. MC MIME: ; MOTO to strike out the answer. 

The auestion was when did he say he stopped working., 

r. 

questions put- to you. V 

•or f eitt 

0 0 

stopped 

• • • I think possibly if we turn bock to A:, etenograptiort* 

m nateo.we will 'find out. 



• What time.: 44 you leave the brewery, 'Stop irOrki 

the ItteWery? AL013üne. I., 1906.: 

1906?, A . Yes, sir. 

WAGNER: , That is all. 

VIiiiAM A  a witnees called on,behelf 

the  Defendant, being duly: sworn testified as follows. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION Y IL WAGEXICR: 

of._ age. 

Where do you live? A 337 East 50tii 

Ur. Pitt, what is your full name? A .William A. Pitt., 

Where do you live? A 337 East 50th Street. 

Row old are. YoU?. A. Well I am ova* twenty one yeexe 

Answer the question. Well I am fifty years of age. 

Do you know :acob Roffman the defendant? A L6 

sir. 

How o have you known A Between fOUr md five'

years,sir. 

Rave you been a tenant of his? A f have, 

4, Row long A Since March 1907 I think it wa, oar, 

I -went there first. 

an 

In what house?, 337 East 50th Street. 

With this defendant? A ekes *sir, with this *defend-

't), Do you know the 'general reputation of Jacob Roffman in 

the neighborhood where _he lived? 



TIM COURT:' °bile tion sUstained; e7coeption. 

Q Do you know any. person or dr, you know where ,Taoob 

-Hoffman lives A I believe he lives. in 53rd Street 

sir. 

Have you heard persons. speak of 

hood? A.• Wkw unitedly. 

Limitedly? 4 - Yea air. 

 'About bow—tally porS.ons have y u heard e 

•Objected jectipn sustaine 

TIM COURT: We must have an answer to show 

that this man is acquainted with people who know the 

-

 

defendant. The answer "limitedly may be one or 

maybe a thousand sT don't knoit 

BY MR. WAGENElf: 

Q,

 

Aeyouacqinted with people who  know atieb. 11?: 

Well I presume I 

Q. Tell us whether you are or not. A In a measure, 

R. MC GUIRE: 

TRE COURT; 

-I object. to that. 

Q, You I3-aid n a_ measure do you know ot do -you.. 

know people ho knoW Roffman? A .Y8115 •ei; I have ase4 



.people and. I know people that know Mr. Roffman. 

Bow many people do you know that know Rotreara 

MR. MC WIRE: 'I • object to that PO issiat 

Do you know where this man lives? 

The defendant? A Yes, sir. 

• . Do you know other people—fn. 

• know him A Yes., e r. 

Do you know his reputation 

• MR. MC GUM: 

-for what? 

TEE COURT: ix ctly.. 

1111. WAGERER; 

TEE * O CURT. , , • 

General reputation."' 

ome something that 

TIM COUR I. do not want to hold COW= 

the strict rule ecause the rule in ecomUnitist 

of this character is different from the rule in 

sparsely settled places, small places. 

a rule arid it AP:Plidlible  here' 

ask Counsel to follow that rule. 

"hit. there-

rr in 

Yes sit, 

that.neighborhood  

n that neighborhood? 

I olDject to that R tatioxx 

refers-

the case involved in this 'case. A man may' tell. 

the tru.th, a man may not steal, a man may .not do 

a great many things and still the traitsk involved 

here would not. be concerned. suppose the  traits 

here would be. a moral, law abiding, citizen. 

WAGENTIR: If be .knows hip. reputation 

,regard. to tbat. 



4 Do 441 know what the def.eridant s rapktatiop, in .yo 

vicinity is as to leading a Olean and'Mori.114e? 

yeas r .1 have had. conversations With petple who ar 

held it to be pretty good.. 

Your answer must  be yes•or no/ 

What is that reputation? 

Wellv o- you. remember We 19th of.lfebru y 191 

Zdo, sir. 

was that a Sunday? A Yes, sir. 

Did you see the defendant ,tb..* day. 

• -Wh-ere 33T:Eant 50th TAree 

That is the place you:live a A, Ys 

When did he come up on that day? A At;out half 

In the morning? Yest sir. 

.Q How long did .he remain' with you? He .remaine 

until about • tri-e-tliiiele went- home to, dinner. 

• About what time? *A. It was about the. neighborhood 

cf twelve odeclock. 

Q Noon?. A Yes, sir; about noon. 

CROSS TION By_141. MC GT3IRE: 

Do you know this mauls family. as we31 as himself? 

Well I know hie sons and I know his wife, yea's Or. 

Q. Do you know what his wife business 

she was a midwife.-



you know that e Wait -oonr40t0 of:02r-

tenced to iierlte a term in the  Pe nitentisr 

.Wt. I, object to  t 

TEE COURT:. Objection stiotatile 

Did you know that this man was the liqs-band of a *0a 

who had carried an the midwife buSinese in a house *bare 

kept furnished rooms? 
7 • 

Objected o;, objection. overruled; ericcePtiO4:' 

Yes,sir. 

You did? 'yes; 8 r. 

---Q — Did-you—It ° I knew. he was  her huebe, 

yea,sir.. 

ct I asked you „whether you knew this .mari kept a furnished 

room house where his  wife carried on the bu.sivesSef a midWife? 

At 337 vast 50th Street? 

At 33'7: or anywhere? A Yes, air. 

Why didn't you say so? 4' I eatt saying so, now. 

Did you know that while they kept that hottee.Ilhere 

• she cakried on the •IDusiness of a midwife, :she was convicted 

of conductim a public nuisance it that Place 'and was sent to 

the Island to serve -a _term of imprisonment? 

Objected objection overruled; exception. 

A No, sir. 

q You don't know that? A No  eiT a was not there. 

Don't you know it? A Iheard. so afterward ye 
• 



Yet112
 

you o'ome hepts and say that the man is a man of 

odd tootle character? 

MR.WAGERER: I object to the question. A 

examination carried on in this: style is ifltmidati: 

the witness,,. 

Knowing that f'act. do you come here a.nt seby that a 

mania a man of ,good Moral ,character? .41, I have known tim 

man to be of good character ever since I. have .344PW# 

Q,• Notwithstanding those facts, the .flow3e4ithat 

kept a furnished room h.ouee in which his wife carrted on 

the business of a midwife where she was convicted for keeping 

talc -ru-isance - 

MR WAGENER: I object to ,that question.. 

Objection overruled; exception. 

MR. WAGERER.: It is done for the pu.rporse of 

biassing the jury. 

• Exception. 

THE WITNESS: Iwas not 'aware* that she was  

• keeping a house for a midwife or for ary purpose 

or anything of the kind; I knew she was ft midwife 
• 

and lived there. 

7 q Did you think that that was. *who* *I :asked 3r.oU 

o answer.) 

THR CCUR don t ou want t sower? 

THE WITITISS: X am trying to answer* 



BY MR. it'd Gin 
Did you know what critae. s:, Hof an Was .ConvIc 

of when she went to the Island? 

A` Yes, s 

ti Whet!t was i 

believe. 

Q _Where did she 'keep the kiiii3anee, 

537 ast 50th Street. 

-Where you lived.? 

A. Where I live nw. 

Did Oho live there  before this time? A At 

tive she wa9.'toirtiated4 no, sir, Z..did not. 

.$ Tou Went .to live. there afterwards? A Yes, 

4. The quelitiop is did this int4i live tliete at that. 

time? A 'Yes sir; I know that -perfectly we 

• • You 'knew he lived there with his wife? 

• A. Not before. 



good irioral:cliaracter? As far as I .an concerned he 

or know an, thinq about him. I always found him, a Eari o -got: 

reputation. 

Do.y u. suppose tha.t was the question that was asked 

youof  far as you were concerned",did: you think that. 

was what you cane here to testify to? A I cannot testij t 

•anYthin.g else. 

.D n t. y.ou. Understand • that .you swore that .you knew. 

this m reputation in the coir.munity in. vihioh you lived? 

I did not say that entirely 9 A No sir • 

(1 You limited it? A Yes sir; 

Very carefully limited it? • A Yes sir. I couldn't 

do otherwise. 

11: A X CORA Na Witntss called on  behalf of the defend.' 

ant being ulj sworn, testified as f011ows: 

YOur •ar.ldress?. A 1712 Bathgate Avenue, Bronx Itixein 

885 First Avenue. 

Mr. Pollan, do. you know acob Hoffan, the defendant? 

Yes sir. 

Q Bow 1 n. 'haveyou .kttOw him? A About five years; 



...... _since inthe neighborhood. 

Do you know where he lives" A In 53rd. Street new  

buthe lived. in 50th Street .before. 

Do you know other 'people that know h Yee sir; 

do: 

n the neighborhood where he tiveS4? A Yes sir. 

Q Do you know that his  reputation is as to morals 

and, clean living? A Yes sir. 

Q n the .cOmmunity where he lives A 'Tits s 

say that --

g, What is it, .good. or bad? A Always galways 

been rood.. 

CROSS IXAMINATION BY MR.. 1.4eGUIRZ.: 

no sir. 

'Do you •knoll! M. Hoffitan? A Mrs. Hoffman not much 

o 70.0 ppu knew herb A No sir. 

0,— "Never saw her? A Ihave seen her but I never had 

any conversation with her. 

Q Do fou. know dl.:at her business is?. A. Well, IL11.0441 

somethinft that se is a It "hedamme -11„Itidwife 

Does e carry' On business in theIOUBOHO*0 TOO!' 

man. lived" A Thj I could' not tell you. 

.Plut.you knew.M4ffman y u_say A Ye s sir; but 1.d0411 

know ;,-(;ther e carries on business or not, 



I didn't  aSk you. that", A I miderst 

You don't -know* where his wife carried on the midwife 

business A No sir. 

•q You lived in the house he lived in? A e5 s 

• Q PId yo 1ow that he kept a furnished ro 

A boarding hoLisso yes. sir.. 

Q, (question repeated) 

there. 

house? A Well, about just ardund the corner betw.een..4 t 

and 56th Street. 

How often did yoemeet R 

justás I passed by. 

q What ,is your business?. A I at.i a- plur.rlbe. 

Yes sir. A plumber/ 

.Are you an associate -of Mr. It ffMan?,. 

met hii when he would. call on Pe and wished me to. do se vt r 

for him and I did. 

Q That is all you lal 

r thcmoriey; I heard people, say 

That is a 

. recolleo 



As far as Your recollection goes. you have neve 

spoken to his wife,have you'? A No sir, I don't think s 

particularly the family, 

g. What do you know by pa.rticular4T A Well, Ow 

Hoffman is the one he is the -gentletnan I ni:Ostl net; 

made any sociable visits to the people. 

Why did' You come here and .swear that. you knew -h 

reputation in the d oinmunit A Of course I knew Kr. offrnan.

and that is the reason I swore that I know hitt as .an honest 

and honorable man. 

Did you krow what the question meant when you were 

asked what . his reputation in the community. va.as•• fcr. ood Ittora 

character? A Yes sir. 

Do you know what that meant? as sir. 

Vithat was it, Tell a what you .Understoo 

understar the word character,, if a man is a.good man, 

• Q. at did you understitrid reputatiOn for oo inOral 

..character in the community to mean? A T a.t e Man s an 

• honest man.; ,that is what 1 understood, 

Q, Does it mean that you were asked to tell what your 

j dgment of him was" * •A t is not mi..own .11c1gment:parsonistlli 

but judment which. I have just rforik,tbe talk pt. other p 

pie.. 

But you sf.ty you don't know anybody but Hoftailkik 



cUdnit ak the family; asked other .peopIe outSi 

Q Who .oise $ic,le. of _the family did you ask asbOut. 

h A Well Mr. Geis, the. owner. Of the house 

Q :Where he. lives? -.A Yes sir.. 

His. landlord? A Yes sir'; he'•toIdmeh-eis.anhonee 

TQW' long.liáv.e ou lived with t1at 3.41143.or ,W 

lie has this landlord five yeartir:4 
. • he 
Wa,sittile landlord when Hoffman went to the Island? 

• anything 
A I don't know,Aabout _Mrs Hoffman going to the Island. 

t? A No sir 

How lone have .you known this man? A have  known t 

for five- years. 

q* pc y9U know hislandlord? A Yes sir. 

And you never heard of 'Mrs. Hciffmanbaying:.gSne -t, 

theIsland?. A No s 

Q Will wait until, you hear the question. 

I.simpiy stiite WtaI.3472.011.T. 

.tall you wait Un0.1 I ask you a question, and then 

you can prOpefly answer W A Yes, 40 ahead. 

You know tildit Hoffman lived in this house it the 

time that his Wife—went Away, Don'tyvu; A I don't bOw 

anythin about when his wife wentlaW 



CU knew '-Geis who owned the hOusepfOr the .1a.t3t f V 

years?' A. Yes sir, ciwthat'. 

• u knew 11, ffinan lived in;this.house More than:, 

• five ears,,did... ati9 A  1 can't recollect about five .years. 

Yet you. don t know that his wife went away? A No 

sir. 

R.: • 

borhood and yoünever heard 

...I. MO 

Never heard of it? A No si 

And you -are- talkins about his character 

f it A. AI1wiat:TjthowtB 

In talking about his clIa.racter in the neighborhoOd-

A - There is no use getting excited. 

Will you wait a minute. Don t talk while I am trring 

ask you a qu es t on., A What I know I answer. What 

now --I don't know about his family affairs: I am not 

going find out :that. 

Q What did. you come here-and testify to his reputation' 

About this man's character. 

q Why did you d it9 AHs personal; aracter, , 

n' t know his family affairs. 

q, You don't know A How -did I come to knOw-his, family 

affairs. 

Q You don't know that' his wife was sentenced for -.keening 

a ihablic nuisance, at the house where he lived., where •iou knew 

hit to live, which was owned b3r a.man whom you aay told you 



he. was a r,00d According * t idep don 

lielieve a house like this in this neighborhood should be 

• disreputable house.; it is too find a neighbOrhood to re 

spectable people living, over there, just it that neibQftO 

That is the reason Wigir.ymx think t is an iø a good 

man because he -lives in a respectable neighborhood? 

.done_ work for him and he treated me gcod. 

Q You never saw Mrs. Hoffman in t e houSe? 

say yes or no on account o 
BY THE COURT: 

Q You did plumbing in the house? A Yee s 

Q You have been up -and-d-own thr-Oug r-o 

BY MR. McGUIRE: 

A How recently havey u been .up and down thtough. the. 

'house? A Well, let me see I should say sometimes, per 

haps three or four months • I have not tong 

twice in succession. 

o Do you understand the Ehglith language? A Yes sir. 

What doe t recently mean? E Not :19rg ago.. 

Q, Was it March or February* A I was in Mai-Oh 'there, 

as n March there twice. 

Q There in March? A Yes. sir. 

Q.. Were you there in Pebtuary A Well, I could' not 

recolledt myself on account of-c-



aadon't  remember A Let -m • explain, 

I dOn't want' your expianatiOne. 

,Were you there in Pebruary?. en I. have nothing 

to say if -I haye ptop. 

Q Were you there in. January? •A I probably have been 

here or 

Q. 

men have been there. 

ou tOid the Judge you had been there? 

there sometime when it requires my own personal attention. 

To see what was done. 

Were you there in January A I can't repo le 

February? A I can't recollect. 

March? A Yes s r. was, there. 

Q. 

• 
Wliat time in March? A- Well, I couldn't the 

date, I could tell you the date by .looking up. the booze 

You can't tell me now  A No Or., 

Was the house empty? A No sir; I think there. 

HU; 

were people in there.. 

A Did y u.eee them in the rOome, A - Yes, sir, I saw 

them in the rooms. 

Q How many rooms were there -in the house? A I have 

, been all through• the building- - 

Q HOW many rooms .are ttere in the 'house,- will you 

. listen onY questions? never counted: them. 
44 - 

Question repeated) A I did, not cotint then, 



3r,ott know, A I have been  thrdit e:r0 
e 

"DO you know how rnarj rooms there are in. the hOlkS• 

No sir. 

9, How mazy rooms used as bedrooms? A I could t 

9, How many rooms have operating ,tables , th ? 

haven't seen any, I don'.t know.i 

Q Have you seen the litfie room between the front an 

the back parlor? A Yes sir; I passed b 

BY THE COURT.: 

Do any 'work in that  little room. You undir oat 

A No sir; I did n 

Q: Did you see any operating table in it? A sir. 

Q What vats in it? A • Just a parlor and back parlor., 

that is -all  I passed by. 

front and :baOlc parlory , A. Parlor and .badk. parlor. 

Is there anything between; 'A. .No sir I did not 

BY MR. McGUIRE: 

You knew this man lived in that houpe, A Yesir, 

Hoffman. 

Yes. did you speak to 'Mrs. Hoffman9 A 11o r; 



did not not to my recollection. 

Vas s7 e in tl-le house t't 6n? A No sir, she was not 

in .the hOixe • 

Q „Where was she9. I .don t know; I'fact not  re 

about her. 

TES.TIMOTY CLOSD. 

1. VTAGE141M: I renew the motions made atthe t 

when the people rested. I do not need to repeat 

M McGuire closes the case on behalf: Of the' P0.4316) • 

DUrlfli the olosing address of Iiltr 111(eGuire t1e As1r 

ant District Attorney, fr agener stated, "I object tO. 

that statement of the District Attorney. There is no 

such evidence that thousands of lives were sacrifited 

in that house. 

R. McGUIRli,: I am-diiscUStsing the inferences that 

the jury may draw.. 



• THE, 0 R T 

0' SULLIVAN, 3. 

Gentlemen of the jury* the defendant it the bite •Alt 

• charged with the' 'crime of abortion. 

The indictment alleges in substanqe, that 4.7a60b 

Hoffman and Elise Hol:fman both f the COunt •of. New 

York, Borough of gunhattan on the lath day OflebrilarY, 

cure ,the misCarriaqe a woman; -the complaininft•Witneee 

in hi-s---casei--- ed- Thora E. Jensen, felorliouslieee-

ore. caused to he used some instrument un1010Wri to the Grand' 

Jury,.for the purpose, as it is said, Of4)179dUOirig:a 

pliSoArrage upon the complaining .wiitneeS in this case. 

• It .is further cárged that  there .Was then no. riect3itity 

pregnant, r -necessary to save the life of the embryo 

child which he was said to he'bearing at that time. 

Those are the allegations of the inactment in 

*the first• coun 

The second count alleges the sante 3.nteryt4 n the 

part of .thc defendant here • and Elise.ligkrbnan to produce 

and orocv re 1 miscarriage of this woman Wh-40.$ it is said 

was t1:-en pre-ntnt, arid that they did felonioitely by scot 



:Men un own. --. as : 0 :the :Grand iitkr:Yi produce and  procure 

the miscarriage , Of :"this *Giant the 00011)441-4.4f4 Witness..- . .• 

in. the -cies1,, When at the time, there -wa0:.00: necessity. 

for such an operation tO save the life 'Of the *wain 

s or to save the life of the em ry0 child -Which t 

alleged. she was bearing at that time,. 

In  the first place it must be said to you that the 

two persons charged in this indictment, as 1i8e nOtT-
man is charged and as Jacob Hoffman is char Es be 

guilty as principals of the same _crime. The indLotthent 

does not distinguish between theiby any allegation, at..a 

It says they did it. If you —Vinci that t 

the evidence in this caes you would find this defendant 

guilty. Youhave not tried the case of the other' person 

named herein for  the reason that it is. the priv.lege 

of defendants named together in an indictment like this. 

to have separate trials; that is their privilege and 

they have had -separate trials. 

There•a:re in law certain terms„ .like that of accOmd. 

plice, but it is not for the court to say that a certain 

person has been proved an. accomplice of another, that is  

for you determine from the -evidence. Whether one 

acted. in concert. with another accused with him. Whether' 

they had the same design in doing the same thing. Wheth.r 

there wa a cannon entrrprise to be worked out. Was t-

an enterprise. between Ucob Roffman and Blies Uoftesilie 



..i4iJA«40014,41. 

procure and produce the miscarriage of Mist; Jensen? 

o then they are accomplices and one a equally guilt 

with the other. Was there a design on the partof thi 

defendant and also a like design on the. *art of SoMe-* 

body e 'produce arid procure the ziecarr'iage upon 

the person of this camPiaining witness and did they a 

cording to :that design_ act in concert to Produce that 

result. . If they didtwithout any regard to  the Other 

person you will find this person guilty and -that iffoul 

be your duty under your oaths.. Now, _again as,to 

--acconrplices--------a-woman--wh-o-submits_hers.:0 to .that 

illegal Sort of operation namely abortion,her-

self guilty of a crime; but, she is not an accomplice 

of the one that performed that operation upon her with  

her own consent.She is guilty of another and. a 

separate crime which the one who performed. it is,guilty 

of abortion; therefore the rule that compels the cart 

to direct the jury that Unless -y u can find, her story. 

- corroboraAed by other- evidence (toes not apply; neVet, 

heless the court is  going to.. say to you that because 

a person takes the stand and admits having committed a 

crime hat that admiss ion raay be considered inmeasurinix 

the amount of credence that. you will litre to that. 

person's story,It is well and it is Just,. and, the 

sat it is desirable that.yOu should' look through ala 



testimony to see whether the story told by this com-

plaining witness is corrOborated by other -erfidenoe 

n the case, If you find it to be corroborated 

and if you find that all the circumstances 'satisfy your 

mind beyond reasonable doubt of the guilt of this defend,* 

ant,you have only one duty to perform ,.and that is 

call him guilty of abortibril 

In every criminal action the defendant is presume 

be innocen 

In his faTiar and through the trial it is favOrable 

it- must remain with him' to the very :0 an 

'until guilt is proved; and unless guilt be proved be 

yond a reasonable doubt he is enstitled to. an acquittal. - 

We have talked about reasonable doubt, gentlemen, an 

there may not be much necessity for my reoeating the 

advice already given to you in other cases; but I will 

say this that .a reasonable -doubt is a doubt: iihich remains 

n the mind of a reasonable man after he has heard all 

against testimony. Would you  have, .with testimony of 

• character before you concerning any other matter in whit* 

you were interested, testimony of such a probative 

character, if it be of probative 'characterwould 

have after considering such testimony concerning 14,01,/ 

important matter in which you were  interested, 



reasonable—doubt about the. conclusion t hich you 

arrive, Por instance it is said to youthatacertaj.n' 

Man is engaged in a  certain palling How would you 

determine that? You would determine,  that by eiridenoe 

Showing what that man did where was, e flace of • 

his occupation. Vow we come to the pi: 

said that. this man operated and I -say. to you,gent lien, 

that it is laid down in our cases that. an indictment 

_which. charges- a- defendant trith doing an act constitutiflg 

a crime is sufficient, although the. proof 8ows. that be 

_was_._:a.bs.ent__at the time the crime was conmatt,ed, 

counselled; induced or proureditscômmission. That. 

is one of the standards in our State, The Peopie. against 

Bliven 112 N. Y, It simply means that i one  'counsels 

and advise8 • 'and helps even though he.. Was absent ,when 

.the principal act occurred, and if that were proved• 

against him ,he would be guilty :Of the principal act .and 

is .a criminal. himself: 

It is a rule . Of law that 'character evidence may 

engender a reasonable doubt when nothing else might -do it 

n the case. It is for you gentlemen to determine 'who, 

is the weigh4 of all. the evidence, character. evidence 

and:the evidence of any other facts, because char eter 

• dence is like the evidence, of any other fact; If 



are  from such evidence that a "man was of such -! 

a character as.. to make it doubtful that he would do such 

a thing, why then there is a ,reasonable 5doubt to the  

benefit of which he. is entitled. w talking about 

character evidence --there was something said about the 

imprisonment in the penitentiary of  the -.Person named• 

here as th-q-ac.camplice.. That was brbugh out b7 t 

prosecution for the purpose of reduCing,. the weight of Char-, 

acter evidence. Even. though. the person • named in. •1is 

indictment,with this defendant is guiltyt dozens o 

other crimesT-i-t--i-S----n-0-• 094— f---t-he----guilt of this de-

fondant of the Charge stated atainstrhti in thie 

ment here. You want to, understamirnthat gentlemen t 

msy go with all the other facts to the mattet-conce ,• 

ing his character. When you are considering the state-

ment that the accomplice the alleged accomplice named 

here  was imprisoned before, that fact 

of this charge against the present defendant 

You were shoucii Certain conditions about this houses 

the alleged place of the alleged criminal'. operation. 

You were allowed to hear evidence concerning things about 

this house but only such evidence as tended, to connect 

the transaction with this .charge,, that is to say,. the 

in which these women slept,. and. that this. defendant 



•-brought food to those .rome e character of the NAP 

and its layout and so forth. were brought to I'clur'61:6t.enw,' 

tion. Now if. you have haiie gleaned from. any Such. testimony, 

,.the idea that previous .operations of the-,:criaSital: 

Character alleged had taken. place there; you 010414 r , 

. member that this man on trial for no other- charge than 

the .one named in the indictment. While:you have the 

rightand it is your  duty to consider all the circumistancrl, 

es ---the circumstance of place, what kind of a Place it 

was,does that lead you, bi ay ..rule of Judgment or 

> 

reas on, t to find out anything as e--par4i-cular kind.

en and manner OZ 

re' all matters for your 

the circumstances Of' 't 

place? The 'circumstances- of the time -w 

doing things in the place-

consideration. That is why 

Place, manner of action and  bandyct were 171"cm 

for you to determine Whether all the 0 roilmS 

• cage point to guilt or otherwi4e. 

It is not for the court to say anything 

anees 't 

about the enormity of the charge or the heinous obarao.-

ter of the crime. 

Abortion is committed, as the law declares, when 

person, with intent to procure the miscarriage of a 

woman unless the same is necessary to preserve the lite 

of the woman or of the child with which eh* is prune:at 



prescribes supplies or administers to the woman o 

• adviSes. or -cause's the woman. to take any medicine, drug. 

or substance, or uses or. cattees to be. wiled any ins ru-

Ment or Other means. 

Gan you say, g.en,tlemen on the testimony .her 

whether the .Unknown means Of .which the indictment speak 

s now known to you and whether the unknown instrument 

referred to: int'he, indictment is nOw kn wn 7.' 

iw whether such an instrument. was. used Upon this oft la n. 

• ant, for the purpose of procuring a iniscarriage0 ow 

  about the necessity of saving the life of the mother 

or Saving the life of the child--the prosecution is not 

.bound to give you any direct evidence of any suah neces-, 

sity r absence of such' necessity You, can judge of t 
A . 

gentlemen, from all the facts in  the case woman' 

•.:herself -testifies that she was a hard 'Working woman, 

that .she was a nervous person at the time e tine 

she had had intercourse with a married Zan and. en OS 

rotas of concealing the place where she li*ed she would 

not tell, and the court allowed her to go without telling, 
where she lived. You can judge from all,the circumstant 

es the facts in this case. whether .it Was  for the preser-

vation of her life that there was such an operation 

performed, if there was such an operation. And; N!hether. 



z 

4-.1.1Vgar.sr 

it was. the preservation of the life of, the embryo-

dhila if there- was such an operation performed. Or 

whether it was. for the. preservation of  her 'own- reputation. 

You can judge of all that without aiy ;direct evidence. 

You. may .take that from all the circumstances- in.. the 

case and e whether or not there- wai any,..:enc noose-_ , 

sity. And then having determined -that gentlemen our 

duty - as t-pIainly before you as the Court can 'poS6 

-bly make it. It ought not to be befogged by ay ideas 

that you may have of this girl', s questionable conduct 

With anyinan.-S-he--e-onimi-t-tedLa--crAme if She. subigitted 

to such an operation, but whether or not vide an cos 

-mitted-p. crime is the thing which you are to detérine, 

If you find from the evidence  beyond a reatIvOna e oubt 

that he did as the indictment charges you will fin 

him guilty of. abortion; - if you have any rêaionabl 

doubt of-his guilt. he is.entitledto adqUitt 

MR. WAGNER: I ask your Honor o o ar e the, u 

on the presumption of the innocence of thie defendant; 

that the defeiidant- comes: into co4rt with -the,leg 

presumption Of the. innOcence of this -cr 
c, 

•IIRE COUR' 

words. 

MB. WAGNER: 

r think I c'Etrgiscl 7almo t thoee 

•tbeg your Honor's pardon I did 



not hear you. I ask your Horior to charge One more thing, 

that the crime that this Complaining witness was guilty 

of wae a felony under the Penal Law of tohig State in 

submitting to the operation„-. 

THE -COURT: I so charge 

Jury retired and after deliberating for ten. 

minutes returned a verdict. of guilty of abortion, 

• THE COLE T: You niay.make your motions to-day or 

'reserve them until the.day of eentence'.•• 

think I will wai,..4 until, the -day 

sentence .and make my motion. 
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